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OVERVIEW
Mission, Vision, Strategy 

STRATEGY
“To Be a Major Multi-Commodity 
European Trading House with a Wide 
Range of Trading Operations and 
Diversified Trading Portfolio.” 

In 2010 RAO Nordic updated its strategy. RAO Nordic’s new 
strategy is based on careful analysis of the future trends 
of energy markets in the whole of Europe. Our strategy 
is to become a major energy-trading house in Europe. 
This means more focus on development of standard 
and non-standard products for large customers and on 
proprietary trading. Trading of energy related products on 
the international markets is our highest priority for growth.

MISSION
“We Want to Provide New Horizons for 
Our Shareholders and Customers.”

Being at the forefront of the INTER RAO Group in Europe the
company fulfils the task of eliminating barriers on the way to
realising the slogan of the group: Energy without Borders!
RAO Nordic’s mission is to provide new horizons for energy
products.

VISION 
“Erasing Energy Borders!”

Our vision is to be a major multi-commodity European trad-
ing house of energy products. We will provide a wide range 
of trading operations and hedging products for our custom-
ers.  After a good start to our trading operations in the Nordic 
power market we will follow suit with trading activities on the 
Continental markets.

7



Managing Director’s Review

The year of RAO Nordic’s 10th anniversary turned out to be 
one of the most challenging in the company’s history. Due 
to decreasing Nordic and increasing Russian electricity 
market prices the imported volumes from Russia to Finland 
were reduced significantly – to 3 TWh from 7 TWh in 2011. 
This had a negative impact on the company’s stand-alone 
financial results. 

Even in such an adverse market environment the RAO Nor-
dic team has managed to remain very professional and 
ready to cope with any difficulties. I consider the descent 
result we obtained in such unfavourable circumstances a 
lot more valuable than its money value.  With regard to the 
mitigating negative impacts of market changes, I cannot 
help but mention that those changes were anticipated and 
certain steps were timely undertaken towards diversifica-
tion of the company’s activities by launching a new busi-
ness direction – origination. This strategy has proved its 
viability and we are going to stick to it in the future. 

In 2012 we forged ahead with our plans for geographical 
and trading expansion. As a result, RAO Nordic has started 
business activities in Sweden from the newly established 
branch office in Stockholm. Further, we have began trad-
ing operations with various commodities on the Interconti-
nental Exchange (ICE) with headquarters in London. In our 
investment policy we will continue to execute our strategy 
of investing in renewable energy through demonstrating a 
willingness to be at the cutting edge of the global environ-
mental initiatives and also to strengthen our trading repre-
sentation in the Nordic region.

By the end of 2012 a significant event in the RAO Nordic 
Group took place – our subsidiary INTER RAO Lietuva, one 
of the largest suppliers of electricity in Lithuania, debuted 
on the Warsaw Stock Exchange. 

The annual net turnover of RAO Nordic Oy in 2012 was 157 
million euros. The continued uncertain economic prospects 
in Europe and reduced imported volumes of electricity from 
Russia to Finland had a negative effect on our profitability. 
However, the operational profit of the RAO Nordic Group 
was 12,5 million euros in 2012, with the annual turnover be-
ing 418 million euros.

OVERVIEW
Managing Director’s Review

Today, when the market environment in the energy field has 
become more challenging it is more important than ever in 
RAO Nordic’s history to focus on professionalism, proactiv-
ity and development. 

I give my warmest thanks to all of RAO Nordic’s personnel, 
of whom many have been working for the company from 
the very beginning. I would also like to thank our customers 
whose loyalty and trust have made RAO Nordic’s decade 
long success possible.

Oleg Zakataev
Managing Director
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BUSINESS OPERATIONS
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BUSINESS OPERATIONS
Overview of the European Energy 
Market

European energy markets remained under pressure in 
2012 due to low demand for electricity as a result of eco-
nomic recession and a surplus of production capacity. A 
rapid increase in renewable energy, such as wind and solar 
power, has contributed to a situation of oversupply, espe-
cially in Germany. This combined with ample precipitation 
and very good hydrologic balance until November caused 
2012 average Nord Pool spot prices to deliver 35% lower 
price at 31,2 euros/MWh compared to the year before. The 
Finnish spot price dropped 26% to 36,6 euros/MWh. Very 
good hydrobalance and nearly a 60% drop in electricity im-
port from Russia converged Finnish CfD price to 5,5 euros/
MWh. Also, continental power prices decreased, with Ger-
man prices dropping 17% to 42,6 euros/MWh. CO2 prices 
traded between 5,7 euros and 9,5 euros in 2012, but the 
average price remained almost unchanged at 6,7 euros 
compared to 2011. The ever increasing shale gas produc-
tion in the USA lowered coal demand causing a decrease in 
spot and forward prices. Production costs of coal condens-
ing power for the front year dropped from 40 euros/MWh to 
32 euros/MWh. 

Trading volumes in the Nordic market continued to decrease 
and many major banks and funds have already withdrawn 
from the market. Different trading hours, when compared to 
other energy markets, as well as a lack of traders is likely 
to cause such developments to continue. In contrast to the 
electricity sector, and despite continued euro debt woes, 
the general risk appetite remained good for most of the year 
and all the major equity indices experienced gains as in-
vestors were desperately seeking yields. 

The slowdown of the Chinese economy and euro debt de-
bacle is expected to continue in 2013, though the world 
economy can find support from the US. In the power mar-
ket, the outlook is different as both the electricity and coal 
oversupply combined with low CO2 prices will continue to 
put pressure on prices and should hydrobalance improve 
significantly there is plenty of room for the market to come 
off. At the moment the only possible factor that could cause 
power prices to start increasing would be some structur-
al change in the emissions trading scheme, though that 
seems highly unlikely and therefore relatively low power 
prices seem to be the new norm.

The weather has once again become one of the most im-
portant factors for energy derivatives trading in the Nordic 
market. The rapidly increasing production of wind and solar 
electricity, especially in Central Europe, but having also an 
increasing impact on the Nordic market, has started to in-
fluence the intraday supply and demand balance. As a re-
sult, we are experiencing increasing volatility in spot prices 
and especially in intraday regulation prices.
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BUSINESS OPERATIONS
Cross-Border Trading
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Marja Rasi-Kurronen, Head of Cross-Border Trading Department 

The Cross-Border Trading Department is 
responsible for power imports from Russia 
and selling it to the Nordic market. 



BUSINESS OPERATIONS
Cross-Border Trading
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Becoming Balance Responsible and Acquiring a 
Trading License in Norway

RAO Nordic has been a balance responsible company in 
Finland almost since the beginning of its operation. Dur-
ing 2012, RAO Nordic became also a balance responsi-
ble company in Norway together with acquiring a trading 
license required by the Norwegian Water Resources and 
Energy Directorate, NVE.

Delivering Renewable Energy from Russia to the 
Nordic Market

During the last quarter of 2012, RAO Nordic started to de-
liver hydro power from the Kola area both to Finland and 
Norway after signing long-term power purchase contracts 
with the seller on the Russian side.

Looking Forward to Two-Way Power Trading on the 
Finnish – Russian Border

Plans to enable two-way power transmission through a DC-
link located in Vyborg Russia have made progress. Finnish 
and Russian grid companies and system operators have 
continued work to establish a contractual framework be-
tween the grid operators on both sides of the border ena-
bling power transmission also from Finland to Russia. Ac-
cording to the information from grid operators on both sides 
of the border two-way transmission could be started by us-
ing one DC link bridge with a capacity of approximately 350 
MW to transmit electricity from Finland to Russia already 
next year. 

The different market structures create challenges: the Nor-
dic market is energy only market, whereas the Russian mar-
ket has two separate markets, one for energy and the other 
for capacity. Further, the Nordic market is zonal whereas the 
Russian market is nodal. 

RAO Nordic is ready to adapt to the changes in the market 
environment and prepared to adjust its operations to the 
prevailing market conditions. One big challenge to the flu-
ent power flow from the cheaper area to the more expen-
sive area is the high cross-border fees on both sides of the 
border. When market prices are close to each other, high 
cross-border fees can create so-called dead area where 
power does not flow at all in any direction. Unfortunately, 
during the recent years, there has been a continuous in-
crease in cross-border fees.

Securing Stable Income through Hedging Activities 

Last year was challenging to the cross-border trading busi-
ness. The trend of increasing power prices continued in 
Russia, whereas mild and wet weather pushed down the 
Nordic prices. Due to successful hedging operations, RAO 
Nordic managed to secure reasonable income taking into 
account that the physical power delivery to the Nordic mar-
ket went down to the half of what it was the year before. This 
year has started with clearly better prospects, and during 
the first quarter of 2013 RAO Nordic’s power delivery to the 
Nordic market was twenty percent  higher than last year.

Close Co-Operation with Origination Business and 
our Parent Company Creates Added Value to all 
Stakeholders

The Cross-Border Trading Department takes care of the 
management of the whole physical power balance of RAO 
Nordic. This provides to our Origination business the pos-
sibility to offer also physical deliveries to our customers.

Our small, but efficient, team has managed to create added 
value for both RAO Nordic and also to our parent company 
Inter RAO in this challenging environment. We are confident 
that we can continue delivering according to the expecta-
tions also in the future.    

Also, the import related transmission contract 
management and the management of RAO 
Nordic’s physical balances in different countries 
belong to the responsibilities of the department.



BUSINESS OPERATIONS
Origination

Focus on Our Strengths:  Flexibility, Pricing and 
Professionalism

Last year, 2012, was in many ways very challenging for the 
origination business. The market situation was very volatile 
and the competition with regard to structured products was 
tougher than in previous years. However, RAO Nordic was 
successful due to concentrating on our strengths: flexibility, 
reliable pricing and high professionalism of our personnel.

Successful Entry to the Swedish Elcertificates Market 

Despite challenges, the origination business developed 
positively in terms of profit, counterparties and new traded 
products in 2012.  The number of counterparties rose es-
pecially in Sweden where we entered the elcertificates mar-
ket.  We quickly became one of the most active counterpar-
ties in that market and trading was very successful. Our first 
trades were done also in ICE exchange. We are planning in 
the future to trade and offer our clients more energy related 
structured products.  

Expecting Growth in Trade of Energy Related 
Structured Products 

The number of employees grew, with two new persons hired 
in 2012. We are hiring very experienced and highly quali-
fied personnel, from different backgrounds. We opened an 
office in Stockholm.  We are aiming to expand business 
opportunities in Sweden in 2013. We are expecting further 
growth in traded products and counterparties this year. We 
are also aiming to find more structured positions from the 
market, which would have a positive portfolio effect on our 
fundamental position. Our clients have benefited from in-
creased competition and liquidity in structured products in 
Nordic power. We will work to increase our market share 
and to continuously improve pricing.

16

Raija Seppälä, Head of Origination

The Origination Department is responsible for 
structured trading in the Nordic power market. 



BUSINESS OPERATIONS
Investment Projects
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Konstantin Antonenko,Senior Expert, Department for 
Development

The Department for Development is 
responsible for pursuing the investment 
strategy of the RAO Nordic Group.
Finnish Wind Energy – The Main Target for 
Investments

As a growing energy corporation, we develop and diversify 
our investments from the point of view of energy sources. 
RAO Nordic’s priority is to widen the dimensions of our en-
ergy trade and to expand geographically our energy pro-
duction. New, fast developing ways of energy production 
are at the heart of our corporation’s strategic investments. 
RAO Nordic has operated in Finland for over a decade and 
we think Finland is the right location for new investments: 
the growth potential of the wind energy in Finland is still 
mostly unused.

Emission-Free and Renewable Wind Energy

When considering the trends in the energy market in Eu-
rope the most promising investment target in energy pro-
duction is wind energy. Wind energy – emission-free and 
renewable – is the most cost-efficient and fastest growing 
form of power generation. In many EU-countries, wind en-
ergy is subsidised by the government in order to achieve 
the set requirements by the EU for an increase in renewable 
energies. 

The Finnish Government Promotes Renewable 
Energies

The Finnish government promotes the use of renewable 
energy sources by the production subsidy scheme for 
electricity. In addition to the subsidy scheme, the reforms 
in planning and permission regulation have promoted the 
growth of the production of wind energy. All necessary 
conditions for successful development of wind energy are 
present in Finland: favorable wind conditions, developed 
infrastructure and the investment potential of the market. 

Competition for the Finnish Winds Is Tight

The mega trend in the Finnish wind energy industry in 2012 
was one billion euros in investments in the development of 
wind projects and the start of construction of several wind 
plants. Along with local investors, international investors 

have played a key role. The boom in wind energy construc-
tion in Finland has increased competition in this market. 
This is due to both to the Finnish subsidy scheme for re-
newable energies and open entry to the market. In the near 
future we will see how the wind energy market will develop 
and stabilise. For the time being, there are still winds to 
catch.



CORPORATE & PEOPLE
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People at RAO Nordic share the passion, motivation 
and professional competence for business.  Along with 
the vast experience of our people, our main strength is 
the diversified background that our employees bring 

to the organisation. We continuously recruit motivated 
people who seek new challenges and wish to develop 
their professional skills in our international team.
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We put a great deal of emphasis on the wellbeing of 
our employees.  The focus on each employee’s profes-
sional and personal growth is at the heart of how we 

work. Balancing work and life is the key to success – 
both professionally and personally.



CORPORATE & PEOPLE
Corporate Governance and 
Risk Management  

In RAO Nordic’s organisation Corporate Governance and 
Risk Management play key roles in supporting the busi-
ness operations of the company.

RAO Nordic’s corporate governance is a set of processes 
of managing and controlling the company’s activities in 
the interests of our shareholder Open JSC INTER RAO 
UES. The company considers corporate governance as a 
tool for improving its efficiency and enhancing its reputa-
tion. Corporate governance at RAO Nordic is based on the 
laws of Finland and the company’s Articles of Association.

The General Meeting of Shareholders is the ultimate gov-
erning body of RAO Nordic. At the Annual General Meet-
ing of Shareholders, the shareholders approve the con-
solidated financial statements, decide on the distribution 
of profits, select the members of the Board of Directors 
and the auditors and determine their compensation. The 
Board of Directors is responsible for the administration of 
RAO Nordic and for ensuring that the business complies 
with relevant laws and regulations, including the Finnish 
Companies Act, RAO Nordic’s Articles of Association and 
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any instructions given by the General Meeting of Share-
holders. 

The risk management policy of RAO Nordic is based on 
the mandate of the Board of Directors given by the share-
holder Open JSC INTER RAO UES to organise the risk 
management of RAO Nordic’s business operations. The 
Board of Directors is responsible for the risks and results 
of the company. The risk policy of the company is ap-
proved and the risk limits are set by the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors has delegated risk management 
to the Risk Management Committee. The Board of Direc-
tors has appointed Managing Director Oleg Zakataev as 
the Chairman of the Risk Management Committee and 
Manager of Risk Division Jussi Räkköläinen as Secretary. 
Other members are Financial Director Igor Pavlov, Head 
of Cross-border Trading Marja Rasi-Kurronen, and Head 
of Origination Raija Seppälä. The Risk Management Com-
mittee is also accompanied with the representatives of 
the shareholder Open JSC INTER RAO UES. In 2012 they 
were Dmitry Yudin, Alla Pyatigor and Artem Kokosh.



Ten years ago RAO Nordic was a pioneer. The founding 
of the company in 2002 was a major advancement for the 
Finnish-Russian cooperation in the energy industry. Au-
thorities on both sides of the border took a positive at-
titude and the business had a quick and promising start. 
Over the years, RAO Nordic has strengthened its position 
in the Nordic power market: beginning with electricity im-
ports with a capacity of 50 MTW in the first year, rising 
to imports within the entire available commercial capacity 
of Vyborg’s Interconnector and North West Power Plant. 
Today RAO Nordic is an active market participant in the 
Nordic power market.

Last year was very challenging especially due to decreas-
ing Nordic and increasing Russian electricity market pric-
es and thus reducing physical trading possibilities. De-
spite the changes in the market environment, RAO Nordic 
was able to achieve decent results. In 2012, RAO Nordic’s 
total trading volume was 35 TWh despite the reduced im-
ports from Russia.

In 2013 we will forge ahead in enhancing our trading activ-
ities by continuing to diversify our business operations by 
actively using trading opportunities in the energy markets 
and providing hedging solutions to our partners. 

RAO Nordic’s strength lies in its very experienced person-
nel and strong backing from its parent company Inter RAO 
UES.

CORPORATE & PEOPLE
Chairman of the Board: 

Overview of RAO Nordic’s History
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Karina Tsurkan, Chairman of the Board



CORPORATE & PEOPLE
Board of Directors

On 31 December 2012
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KARINA TSURKAN 
Chairman of the Board
Head of the Trading Unit 
of JSC INTER RAO UES

ANTON BADENKOV
Member of the Board
Adviser of the Chairman 
of the Management Board 
of JSC INTER RAO UES

ILNAR MIRSIYAPOV
Member of the Board
Head of the Strategy 
and Investment Unit of 
JSC INTER RAO UES

DMITRIY PALUNIN
Member of the Board
CFO of JSC INTER RAO UES

OLEG ZAKATAEV
Member of the Board
Managing Director of
RAO Nordic Oy



 

Address: Tammasaarenkatu 1, 00180 Helsinki
Phone: +358 9 773 81 000 
Email: office@raonordic.com
Office Fax: +358 9 773 81 999
Trading Fax: +358 9 753 13 96
Company ID:  FI17849377

www.raonordic.com

Oleg Zakataev
Managing Director
o.zakataev@raonordic.com
+358 9 773 81 510

Merja Sirola
Head of Office Administration
m.sirola@raonordic.com
+358 9 773 81 502

Igor Pavlov
Financial Director
i.pavlov@raonordic.com
+358 9 773 81 521

CORPORATE & PEOPLE
Contact Information
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Marja Rasi-Kurronen
Head of Cross-border Trading
m.rasi-kurronen@raonordic.com
+358 9 773 81 503

Raija Seppälä
Head of Origination
r.seppala@raonordic.com
+358 50 447 7974

Konstantin Antonenko
Senior Expert 
Department for Development
k.antonenko@raonordic.com
+358 9 773 81 506
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RAO NORDIC OY
Financial statements 31.12.2012
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RAO NORDIC OY
Report of the Board of Directors

1. Development of operations during the year 2012

The main parts of RAO Nordic’s business in 2012 has been importing electricity from Russia and selling it on the Nordic 
market and Origination business, which continued to increase both the customer base and traded volumes on the Finnish 
market together with gradual expansion to other markets and commodities. During 2012 the Swedish branch of RAO Nor-
dic was set up in Stockholm to develop Origination operations in neighboring markets and first deals had been made on 
Swedish market. In addition to Sweden RAO Nordic established operations in Norway. The trading license from Norwegian 
Water Resources and Energy Directorate NVE was received enabling RAO Nordic to start trading also physical power in 
Norway. RAO Nordic concluded Balance Agreement with Statnett SF and became a balance responsible market player 
also in Norway in addition to Finland.

Starting from November 2012 RAO Nordic concluded two new import contracts with INTER RAO UES. These contracts 
increased the importing capacity from Russia to Nordic market roughly by 130 MW. Electricity produced by hydro power 
plants located in Kola region in Russia is delivered to northern parts of Finland and Norway.

In 2012 RAO Nordic  has delivered in total nearly 4 TWh of physical electricity (7,4 TWh in 2011) and traded over 35 TWh 
of financial contracts (22,1 TWh in 2011). The gross sales figure was EUR 157 million (EUR 440 million in 2011) and the 
operating loss was EUR 1,5 million (operating profit EUR 0,6 million in 2011). The main reason of operating loss was the 
significant reduction of import volumes from Russia due to relatively lower Finnish area prices in 2012 compared to 2011.

2. Major events after the balance sheet date

There have been no events after the 31 December 2012 that may influence or have any material impact on the activities 
of RAO Nordic or its financial position. Group events after the balance sheet date are reported on the note 27 of the Con-
solidated Financial Statements.

3. Estimate of the future development

To support RAO Nordic’s vision to become a major trading house, RAO Nordic started up a new client activity, origination 
in 2010. The main task of origination is to provide standard and tailor made transactions in power market and other com-
modities for professional market players. RAO Nordic acts as a counterpart in the deals. Main client groups are electricity 
retail companies, large and medium sized end-users of electricity and power producers. RAO Nordic designs transactions 
according to client’s strategic needs.  The transactions range from simple standard flow trades to very complex structures. 
Trades are settled both financially and physically.  The strong financial background and natural position in power market 
has given RAO Nordic a good start in Origination market. 

During the year origination has fulfilled the quantitative and qualitative expectations of parent company Inter RAO. RAO 
Nordic has profiled itself as a one of the major players in the structured energy trading, mainly focusing on the Finnish mar-
ket. In 2013 RAO Nordic continue expansion to other geographical areas and commodities. Currency hedging is carried 
out in combination with trading commodities in different currencies. Risk management and support functions will continue 
to be centralized in Helsinki, Finland. 
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RAO NORDIC OY
Report of the Board of Directors

4. Estimation of major risks

RAO Nordic’s business risks can be summarized as follows: 

1. Operating risk:  Operating risk refers to the inherent or general business risk of a company such as country risk, political risk 
and economic risk. General business risk refers to risks related to general business concerns of regime stability, turmoil, 
corruption, financial transfer, loan default, direct investment and export markets. Due to the nature of the business i.e. trad-
ing electricity which is mainly purchased from Russia, RAO Nordic´s operating risk can be seen higher than moderate. 

2. Market risk: Market risk is the risk that is incurred due to uncertainties in the market.  Uncertainties may include fluc-
tuations in raw material and production costs, demand, and pricing. Market risk is a standard risk borne by any firm 
involved in market driven transactions. Due to the fact that RAO Nordic trades electricity which is rather volatile com-
modity, RAO Nordics market risk can be seen high.

3. Product liability/Warranty risk: Product liability risk arises from the sale of defective products. Warranty risk re-
fers to the risk that companies face when customers make claims against them if products and/or servic-
es are not offered according to the agreed upon terms and conditions. Due to the nature of the product and the 
fact that the electricity is always available, RAO Nordic’s product liability / warranty risk can be seen rather low. 

4. Bad debt risk: Bad debt risk is the risk that a supplier will not receive payment from a customer. When trad-
ing via Nord Pool Spot AS and NASDAQ OMX exchanges is concerned, the bad debt risk is regarded low. As 
RAO Nordic’s industrial clients are well established businesses, the bad debt risk can be seen as moderate. 

5. Foreign exchange risk: Foreign exchange risk arises from fluctuations in currencies where a company bears costs in 
one currency and receives revenue in a different currency. Due to the fact that the physical electricity is almost purely 
purchased and sold in euro and major part on financial trading is carried out in euro, RAO Nordic’s foreign exchange 
risk can be seen as rather low.

6. Estimation of the major Group risks is reported on the note 24 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

5. Development and research activities

RAO Nordic does not have major development and research activities due to the nature of its business.

6.	 Valuation	of	financial	instruments

The financial instruments are recognized at fair value according to the Accounting Act 5:2a §.

Commodity risk hedging
Commodity risk hedging has been applied during the financial year 2010. The Company has partly applied hedge ac-
counting in accordance with IAS 39 as so-called cash flow hedge. A change in the fair value of electricity derivative hedge 
contract proven effective is entered directly in shareholders’ equity in fair value reserve, and only after the realization of the 
forecast electricity purchases it is entered in the income statement as an adjustment of the hedged purchases or sales. 



28

7.	 	Key	figures	of	 the	parent	company	RAO	Nordic	Oy	business	and	 its	financial	position.	
Personnel	key	figures	of	the	parent	company	RAO	Nordic	Oy.

8. RAO Nordic group

In 2012 the Group company INTER RAO Lietuva set up the 100% Polish subsidiary IRL Polska Sp. z.o.o. The business 
purpose of Polish subsidiary is to expand trading in Europe. IRL Polska will start active trading in 2013 from local markets in 
Poland. In the long run when the new interconnectors  LitPol 1 and 2 are active IRL Polska is going to participate in cross-
border electricity trading operations.

9. Environmental issues

In the past the environmental issues have had no material impact on the Group business as RAO Nordic and its subsidi-
aries have been mainly involved in the trading business. But being engaged in purely trading business RAO Nordic has 
continuously looked for potential investment projects in EU countries. Nowadays the development strategy of the Group 
emphasizes on the green power project development, technologies that provide the highest environmental benefit.

RAO NORDIC OY
Report of the Board of Directors

Key	figures	of	the	parent	company	RAO	Nordic	Oy	business	and	financial	position
2012 2011 2010

In thousands of EUR In thousands of EUR In thousands of EUR

Net turnover 157 043 440 371 315 666

Operating profit -1 507 641 6 281

Net profit -477 7 089 7 101

Operating profit % -1,0 0,2 2,0

Return of equity % -1,0 13,0 68,9

Equity to assets ratio% 52,0 69,1 9,23

Personnel	key	figures	of	the	parent	company	RAO	Nordic	Oy
2012 2011 2010

In thousands of EUR In thousands of EUR In thousands of EUR

Staff cost 2 702 2 885 2313

Number of employees

on the average 17 18 17
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RAO NORDIC OY
Report of the Board of Directors

10. Shares
 
The share capital is split as follows:

2012 2011
The Company has one series of shares (1 vote/share) 1305 shares 1305 shares

All shares are equally entitled to distribution of dividend

11.	 The	proposal	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	the	profit	distribution.

The loss for the year 2012 amounted to 477 thousand EUR. The Board of Directors proposes not to pay any dividends for 
the year 2012. The loss will be transferred to retained earnings. 

12. Board of Directors, Managing Directors and Auditors

The following persons included to the Board of the company during 2012.

Karina Tsurkan, Head of Trading Unit JSC “INTER RAO UES”
Anton Badenkov, Advisor of Chairman of Management Board of JSC “INTER RAO UES”
Dmitriy Palunin, Chief Financial Officer JSC “INTER RAO UES”
Ilnar Mirsiyapov, Head of Strategy and Investment Unit JSC “INTER RAO UES”
Oleg Zakataev, Managing Director of RAO Nordic Oy

Auditor has been Ernst & Young Oy and Mikko Rytilahti as a chief auditor.   
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RAO NORDIC OY
IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year ended 31 December 2012
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RAO NORDIC OY
Consolidated Statement of  

Financial Position

Note 31 December   2012 31 December   2011

ASSETS   

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 8 39,876 41,178

Property, plant and equipment 6 25,727 25,011

Investments in associates 7 269 406

Other non-current assets 10 7,512 8,690

Assets classified as held for sale 28,291 23,704

Deferred tax assets 9 84 10

Total non-current assets 101,759 98,999

Current assets

Accounts receivable and prepayments 11 25,640 16,110

Income tax prepaid 1,450 1,379

Other current assets 13 4,332 13,912

Cash and cash equivalents 12 13,048 14,966

Total current assets 44,470 46,367
Total assets 146,229 145,366
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RAO NORDIC OY
Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position 

Note 31 December   2012 31 December   2011

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
Equity
Share capital 14 1,305 1,305

Revaluation and fair value reserve 14 15,083 10,496

Foreign currency translation reserve (1,015) (1,048)

Hedge accounting reserve 14 12 8,324

Retained earnings 38,094 43,699

Total equity attributable to 
shareholders of the Company

53,479 62,776

Non-controlling interest 8,118 9,176

Total equity 61,597 71,952

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 25,966 29,178

Other non-current liability 9 6,908 -

Deferred tax liability 9 2,364 4,916

Total non-current liabilities 35,238 34,094

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 14,928 17,482

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17 26,394 15,048

Taxes payable, other than income tax 18 7,902 4,679

Income tax payable 170 2,111

Total current liabilities 49,394 39,320
Total liabilities 84,632 73,414
Total equity and liabilities 146,229 145,366
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RAO NORDIC OY
Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Income

Note 31 December   2012 31 December   2011

Revenue 19 417,883 745,291

Operating expenses 20 (431,985) (792,080)

Other operating income 19 26,628 70,758

Operating	profit	 12,526 23,969
Finance income 21 903 856

Finance expenses 21 (2,781) (2,837)

Share of  loss of associates 7 (26) 586

Profit/(loss)	before	income	tax 10,622 22,574
Income tax expense 22 (2,964) (3,488)

Profit	for	the	year 7,658 19,086
Other	comprehensive	(expense)/	income
Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets 10 4,587 6,433

Net movement on cash flow hedges 14 (11,249) 52,997

Income tax effect related to movement on cash 
flow hedges

9, 22 2,702 (13,614)

Exchange gain on translation to 
presentation currency

33 130

Other	comprehensive	income/(expense)	for	
the	year,	net	of	tax

(3,927) 45,946

Total	comprehensive	income/(expense)	for	
the	year,	net	of	tax.

3,731 65,032

Profit/(loss)	attributable	to:
Shareholders (605) 9,719

Non-controlling interests 8,263 8,263

7,658 19,086

Total	comprehensive	income/(expense)	
attributable	to:
Shareholders (4,297) 55,665

Non-controlling interests 8,028 9,367

3,731 65,032

Basic	earnings/(loss)	per	share 15 EUR	(464)	 EUR 7,448
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RAO NORDIC OY
Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows 

Note  2012 2011

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss)	before	income	tax 10,622 22,574

Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) before 
tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation and amortisation 20 2,563 1,306

Impairment of non-current assets 20 7,855 -

Share of profit of associates 7 26 (586)

Forex exchange (gain)/loss, net (169) 130

Interest income 21 (686) (607)

Interest expense 21 2,275 2,001

Dividend income

(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries 5 - (374)

Operating	cash	flows	before	working	
capital	changes	and	income	tax	paid

22,486 24,444

(Increase)/decrease in inventories - 33

(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable and 
prepayments

(15,826) 7,769

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets (1,107) 14,316

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities

17,691 (19,875)

Increase/(decrease) in taxes payable other than 
income tax

3,223 (3,096)

Income tax paid (4,910) (3,852)
Net	cash	(used	in)	/	received	from	
operating activities

21,557 19,739
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RAO NORDIC OY
Consolidated Statement of 

Cash Flows 

Note  2012 2011

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Loan issued - (7,178)

Repayment of loans issued 2 -

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and  
intangible assets

(1,117) (64)

Bank deposit - (1,000)

Purchase of  subsidiary 5 - (19,730)

Disposal of subsidiaries 5 - -

Interest received 299 126

Dividends received 111 444

Net	cash	(used	in)	/	received	from	investing	
activities

(705) (27,402)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from non-current borrowings 12,000 12,489

Repayment of borrowings (18,667) (21,613)

Interest paid (2,102) (2,041)

Dividends paid to shareholders (5,000) (6,274)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (9,086) (8,893)

Net	cash	(used	in)	/	received	from	financing	
activities

(22,855) (26,332)

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and 
cash equivalents

85 (81)

Net	increase/(decrease)	in	cash	and	cash	
equivalents

(1,918) (34,076)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the year

14,966 49,042

Cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the year

12 13,048 14,966
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RAO NORDIC OY
Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity 

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Notes Share 
capital

Foreign 
currency  

trans-
lation 

reserve

Revalu-
ation 

and fair 
value 

reserve 

Hedge 
account-

ing 
reserve

Re-
tained 
earn-
ings

Total Non-con-
trolling 

interests

Total 
equity

Balance at 1 
January 2011
restated)

1,305 (1,178)		
-

4,063 (31,059)		 35,792  8,923 8,740  17,663

Profit	for	the	period - - - - 9,719 9,719  9,367 19,086
Other comprehen-
sive	(expense)/	
income for the year

130 6,433 39,383  - 45,946 - 45,946

Balance at 31 
December 2011

1,305 (1,048)		 10,496 8,324 43,699 62,776 9,176  71,952

Balance at 1 
January 2012

1,305 (1,048)		 10,496 8,324 43,699 62,776  9,176 71,952

Profit	for	the	period - - - - (605) (605) 8,263 7,658

Other comprehen-
sive	(expense)/	
income for the year

- 33 4,587 (8,312) 		(3,692) (235)		 (3,927)

Dividends 14 - - - - (5,000) (5,000) (9,086) (14,086)

- - - - (1,812)		 (1,812)		 (8,931)		 (10,743)		
Balance at 31 
December 2011

1,305 (1,015)		 15,083  12 38,094  53,479  8,118 61,597
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RAO NORDIC OY

1 The Group and its operations

Organisation and operations

RAO Nordic Oy (the “Parent Company”) was established 
in the year 2002 in Finland and started its operations on 
1 October 2002.  OJSC INTER RAO UES a Russian com-
pany is a founder and 100 percent shareholder of the Par-
ent Company.

The Parent Company’s subsidiaries (together referred as 
“Group”) as at 31 December 2012 are presented in Note 
26.

The Group’s activities include re-selling of electricity, pur-
chased mainly from the OJSC INTER RAO UES, on the 
Finnish, Lithuanian and Kazakhstan markets.

At 31 December 2012, the number of employees of the 
Group was 74 (2011: 62).

The Parent Company’s office is registered at Tammasaaren-
katu 1, FIN-00180 Helsinki, Finland.

The financial statement are authorised for issue by the 
Board at the 30th of March as latest. The financial statement 
may not be amended after the issue.

Group’s	business	environment

The Governments of the countries where the Group oper-
ate directly affect the Group’s operations through regulation 
with respect to energy generation, purchases and sales. 
Governmental economic, social and other policies in these 
countries could have a material effect to the Group.

Kazakhstan and Lithuania have been experiencing politi-
cal and economic changes that have affected, and may 
continue to affect the activities of the Group’s subsidiaries 
operating in this environment. Consequently, operations in 
these jurisdictions involve risks that typically do not exist 
in other markets. These risks include matters arising from 
the policies of the government, economic conditions, the 
imposition of or changes to taxes and regulations, foreign 
exchange fluctuations and the enforceability of contract 
rights. In addition, the recent contraction in the capital and 
credit markets has further increased the level of economic 
uncertainty in the environment where the Group operates.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements re-
flect management’s assessment of the impact of the busi-
ness environment in the countries, where the Group op-
erates, to operations and financial position of the Group. 
Management is unable to predict all developments which 
could have an impact on the utility sector and the wider 
economy in these countries and consequently, what ef-
fect, if any, they could have on the financial position of the 
Group. Therefore, future developments in business environ-
ment may differ from management’s assessment.

2 Financial conditions

As at 31 December 2012 the amount of current liabilities 
exceeded the current assets of the Group by EUR 4,924 
thousand (as at 31 December 2011 current assets of the 
Group exceeded the current liabilities of the Group for EUR 
7,047 thousand). The change in the current financial posi-
tion in 2012 is mainly explained by the positive movement 
of cash flow hedge reserve.

The main goal of the Group’s investment, financial and op-
erational activities is to maximize cash flows and minimize 
cost of capital.

The Group aims to achieve its objectives principally by ap-
plying the following efforts:
-  Investment activity intensification in the electric power 

markets where the Group has competitive advantages;
-  Increasing of sales in adjacent markets to strengthen the 

Group’s position on the given electric power markets;
-  Strengthening of the vertical integration between the as-

sets acquired by the Group so as to maximize the income 
from electric power sales.

Based on the above, management of the Group believes 
that it is appropriate to present these financial statements 
on a going concern basis.

3 Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance. 
These consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

Each entity within the Group individually maintains its own 
books of accounts and prepares financial statements in ac-
cordance with the local accounting requirements. These 
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financial statements are based on the statutory records and 
adjusted and reclassified for the purpose of fair presenta-
tion in accordance with IFRS. 

Basis of measurement. 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the 
historical cost basis except for the following items: 
- available-for-sale investments accounted for at fair value;
- cash-flow hedging instruments accounted for at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency. 
The national currencies of the countries, where the Group’s 
subsidiaries operate, are usually the company’s functional 
currencies, because they generally reflect the economic 
substance of the underlying transactions and circumstanc-
es of these subsidiaries.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in 
the European Euro (“EUR”) since management believes 
that this currency is a more useful measure for the potential 
users of the consolidated financial statements. All financial 
information presented in EUR has been rounded to the 
nearest thousand.

The national currencies of Lithuania and Kazakhstan are 
not readily convertible currencies outside these countries 
and, accordingly, any conversion of national currencies to 
EUR should not be construed as a representation that their 
amounts have been, could be, or will be in the future, con-
vertible into EUR at the exchange rate disclosed, or at any 
other exchange rate. 

Seasonality. 
Demand for electricity is to some extent influenced by the 
season of the year. The Group’s monthly revenue in the pe-
riod from October to March is usually higher than in other 
months. This seasonality does not impact the revenue or 
cost recognition policies of the Group.
Going concern. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis, which contemplates the realisation of as-
sets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of 
business. These accompanying financial statements do not 
include any adjustment that might be necessary should the 
Group be unable to continue as a going concern.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments. 
The Group’s management makes estimates and judgments 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are 
continually evaluated and are based on management’s ex-
perience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the cir-
cumstances. Management also makes certain judgments, 
apart from those involving estimations, in the process of 
applying the accounting policies. The judgments that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements and estimates that can cause a sig-
nificant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are presented below.

Judgements
Effectiveness of cash-flow hedging
Management of the Group applies its judgements in de-
termination of hedging effectiveness. Effectiveness test is 
performed annually on the reporting date. 

Hedging is considered to be effective if the below criteria 
are met: 
1. The probability of the forecasted hedged electricity 

sales is high because the hedged item is only a cer-
tain part of the forecasted monthly electricity sales. In 
this case, a larger fluctuations in electricity sales do 
not create a potential hedge ineffectiveness.

2. There are demonstrable documents, showing that the 
defined hedged item (forecasted electricity sales) will 
remain fairly stable and the actual monthly sales vol-
umes can be verified.

3. The prospective efficiency test will be carried out by 
using the Critical Terms Comparison method and Dol-
lar offset method if needed.

If there is an indicator of inefficiency the Dollar offset method 
with Hypothetical Derivative approach is used. The hedged 
risk is estimated based on ‘hypothetical derivative’. The hy-
pothetical derivative approach compares the change in the 
fair value or cash flows of the hedge instrument with the 
change in the fair value or cash flows of the hypothetical 
derivative.

For valuation of both hedge instrument and hedged item 
the Group used the discount rate modelled on the basis of 
current market rates.

RAO NORDIC OY
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Dollar offset method provides an advantage in determining 
the extent of ineffectiveness that has occurred and calcula-
tion of figures to be accounted in the financial statements.

In order to verify the effectiveness of hedges the actual 
monthly sales amount has to be compared with the actual 
hedged amount. If the realized electricity sales are higher 
than the actual hedges for that month the hedge can be rec-
ognized as efficient.

The prospective tests performed as at 31 December 2012 
demonstrated 99% efficiency with the price variation range 
up to 20 EUR and down to 10 EUR to the price level as at 31 
December 2012.

Starting from 2012 the Group recognizes all physical trades 
done under Origination business as financial derivatives us-
ing IAS 39.5 rules that apply to non-financial items. The main 
reasoning is that these contracts are derivatives in essence 
being physically in form and should be measured at fair value 
through profit and loss starting from inception.
All these contracts are recorded in Origination book and thus 
separated from Asset-back trading business dealing with 
normal physical supply of electricity. As at 31.12.2012 the fair 
value of these derivatives was EUR 804 thousand.    

Estimates
Impairment provision for accounts receivable (note 11)
The impairment provision for accounts receivable is based 
on the Group’s assessment of the collectability of specific 
customer accounts. If there is deterioration in a major cus-
tomer’s creditworthiness or actual defaults are higher than the 
estimates, the actual results could differ from these estimates.

If the Group determines that no objective evidence exists that 
impairment has occurred for an individually assessed ac-
counts receivable, whether significant or not, it includes the 
account receivable in a group of accounts receivable with 
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses 
them for impairment. 

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, ac-
counts receivable are grouped on the basis of similar credit 
risk characteristics. Those characteristics are relevant to the 
estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by 
being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts 
due according to the contractual terms of the assets being 
evaluated. 

Future cash flows in a group of accounts receivable that 
are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on 
the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets and 
the experience of management in respect of the extent to 
which amounts will become overdue as a result of past loss 
events and the success of recovery of overdue amounts. 
Past experience is adjusted on the basis of current observ-
able data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did 
not affect past periods and to remove the effects of past 
conditions that do not exist currently.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (note 6)
The estimation of the useful life of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is a matter of management judgment 
based upon experience with similar assets. In determining 
the useful life of an asset, management considers the ex-
pected usage, estimated technical obsolescence, physical 
wear and tear and the physical environment in which the 
asset is operated. Changes in any of these conditions or 
estimates may result in adjustments for future depreciation 
rates.

Fair value of available-for-sale investments (note 10)
Estimation of fair value of available-for-sale investments 
was made based on discounted future cash flows of busi-
ness entity. The following assumptions were used for the 
estimation:
- Period of valuation: 2013-2031 plus termination value.
- Discounting factor: 20,8%.
- Future revenues and expenses.
The future revenue was estimated based on region price 
forecasts taking into account the local electricity demands 
on local markets.  

Impairment of goodwill (note 8)
As at 31 December 2012 impairment tests supported the 
ability of UAB INTER RAO Lietuva and Vydmantai Wind 
Park to generate future earnings sufficient to support the 
carrying value of the goodwill associated with the acquisi-
tion of that business.  Further details are disclosed in Note 8.

Tax contingencies 
The Group operate in a number of tax jurisdictions across 
Europe and the CIS. Where management believes it is prob-
able that their interpretation of the relevant legislation and 
the Group’s tax positions cannot be sustained, an appropri-
ate amount is provided for in these financial statements. Tax 
contingencies are disclosed in Note 24.

RAO NORDIC OY
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4	Summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	

Significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements are described below.

Basis of consolidation
Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries.  
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Parent Company. 
Control is presumed to exist when the Parent Company di-
rectly or indirectly has an interest of more than one half of 
the voting rights or otherwise has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential 
voting rights that are presently exercisable are taken into 
account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are in-
cluded in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date when that control commences until the date that con-
trol ceases.

Non-controlling interest. 
Non-controlling interest represents the non-controlling 
shareholders’ proportionate share of the equity and results 
of operations in the Group’s subsidiaries. It is calculated 
based upon the non-controlling interests’ ownership per-
centage in these subsidiaries. The non-controlling interest 
is disclosed as part of Equity.

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with 
non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners 
of the Group. For purchases of non-controlling interests, 
the difference between consideration paid and the relevant 
share of the carrying value of this non-controlling interest 
is recognized in equity. Differences between consideration 
received and carrying value of non-controlling interests 
sold are also recorded in equity.

Associates. 
Associates are those entities in which the Group has sig-
nificant influence, but not control, over the financial and 
operating policies. Associates are accounted for using the 
equity method. The consolidated financial statements in-
clude the Group’s share of the income and expenses of 
associates, after adjustments to align the accounting poli-
cies with those applied by the Group, from the date when 
significant influence commences and until the date when 
significant influence ceases. When the Group’s share in an 

associate’s loss exceeds its interest in an associate, the 
carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term 
investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further 
losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group 
has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the 
investee.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from 
the date on which it ceases to have significant influence in 
associate.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation. 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
on transactions between Group entities are eliminated; un-
realised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot 
be recovered. The Company and all its subsidiaries use 
uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s 
policies. 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and 
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the investees; unrealised losses are also elimi-
nated unless the transaction provides evidence of an im-
pairment of the asset transferred. 

Business combinations
All business combinations are accounted for by applying 
the purchase method of accounting. Where the Group ob-
tains control over an entity or a business, it measures the 
cost of the business combination as the aggregate of  t h e 
fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabili-
ties incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by 
the Group, in exchange for control of the acquiree.

Acquisition date is the date when the Group effectively ob-
tains control over the acquiree.

Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions and translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the 
respective functional currencies of the Group entities at 
exchange rates effective at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cur-
rencies at the end of the reporting period are remeasured 
to the entities’ functional currencies at the exchange rate 
at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are remeas-
ured to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the 
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date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency 
differences arising on remeasurement are recognised in 
profit and loss.

Available-for-sale equity instruments are considered non-
monetary and the effect of exchange rate changes on their 
fair value is included in the fair value gain or loss recog-
nised in other comprehensive income.

Assets and liabilities of the Parent Company and its subsidi-
aries are translated into the Group’s presentation currency 
at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting 
period. Profit and loss items of the Parent Company and its 
subsidiaries are translated at the average exchange rate 
for the period (unless this average is not a reasonable ap-
proximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing 
on the transaction dates, in which case income and ex-
penses are translated at the rate on the dates of the trans-
actions). Components of equity and other comprehensive 
income are translated at the historic rate with the exception 
of equity opening balances at the date of transition to IFRS 
which were translated at the exchange rate at the date of 
transition. Exchange differences arising on the translation 
of the net assets of the Company and its subsidiaries are 
recognised as translation differences in other comprehen-
sive income and included in the foreign currency translation 
reserve in equity. 

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded initially based 
on historic cost. The cost of self-constructed assets in-
cludes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appro-
priate proportion of production overheads. Where an item 
of property, plant and equipment comprises major compo-
nents having different useful lives, those are accounted for 
as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Renewals and improvements are capitalised and the as-
sets replaced are retired. The costs of repair and mainte-
nance are expensed as incurred. Gains and losses arising 
from the retirement of property, plant and equipment are 
included in the consolidated income statement as incurred.
Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of 
property, plant and equipment that is accounted for sepa-
rately, is capitalised with the carrying amount of the com-
ponent being written off. Other subsequent expenditure 
is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 

benefits embodied in the item of property, plant and equip-
ment. All other expenditure is recognised in the consoli-
dated income statement as an expense as incurred.

Advances for capital construction and acquisition of prop-
erty, plant and equipment are included into construction in 
progress.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calcu-
lated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life 
of the asset when it is available for use. Depreciation com-
mences on the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally 
constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed 
and ready for use. For the property, plant and equipment 
which were subject to the third party valuation, the depreci-
ation rate applied is initially based on the estimated remain-
ing useful lives as at the valuation date. The useful lives are 
reviewed at each financial year-end and, if expectations 
differ from previous estimates, the changes are recognised 
prospectively. The useful lives, in years, of assets by type 
of facility are as follows:

Type of facility Useful life, years
Land Not depreciated

Buildings 8  –71

Constructions 13 – 50

Plant and equipment 4 – 50

Other 3 – 20

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries, associ-
ates and jointly controlled companies.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acqui-
sition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
acquiree. Goodwill in respect of subsidiaries is recognised 
as a separate asset within intangible assets in the state-
ment of financial position. Goodwill in respect of associates 
and joint ventures is included in the carrying amount of the 
investees. 

When the excess is negative (“negative goodwill”), the ex-
cess is recognised immediately in the statement of com-
prehensive income.
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Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses and is the subject for an annual impairment test.

Other intangible assets 
Other intangible assets acquired by the Group, which have 
finite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Expend-
iture on internally generated goodwill and brands is rec-
ognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income as expense as incurred.

As the result of acquisition of UAB Vydmantai Wind Park the 
operating licence was recognised as other intangible as-
sets with initial value of EUR 11,527 thousand. The licence 
guarantees wind park electricity to be sold at the price level 
not less than 300 LTL per MWh. This tariff is valid till the end 
of 2020. The licence amortisation period is up to the end of 
2020. As at 31.12.2012 the value of licence was EUR 9,682 
thousand.

Amortisation. 
Amortisation is recognised as expense on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, 
other than goodwill, from the date when they became avail-
able for use. The estimated useful lives of intangible assets 
are in the range of 2–10 years. 

Finance lease

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as fi-
nance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is 
measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for 
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that 
asset. The corresponding finance lease liability is carried at 
the present value of future lease payments.

Other leases are considered to be operating lease and the 
leased assets are not recognised on the Group’s statement 
of financial position. The total lease payments are recog-
nized as expense in the consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Available-for-sale investments

Investments intended to be held for an indefinite period of 

time are classified as available-for-sale; these are included 
in other non-current assets unless management has the ex-
press intention of holding the investment for less than 12 
months from the end of the reporting period, they will need 
to be sold to raise operating capital or they mature within 
12 months, in which case they are included in other current 
assets. Management determines the appropriate categori-
sation, current or non-current, at the time of the purchase 
and re-evaluates it based on maturity at the end of each 
reporting period. 

Available-for-sale investments include non-marketable se-
curities, which are not publicly traded or listed. For these 
investments, fair value is estimated by reference to a variety 
of methods including those based on their earnings and 
those using the discounted value of estimated future cash 
flows. In assessing the fair value, management makes as-
sumptions that are based on market conditions existing at 
the end of each reporting period. Investments in equity se-
curities that are not quoted on a stock exchange and where 
fair value cannot be estimated on a reasonable basis by 
other means, are stated at cost less impairment losses.

‘Regular way’ purchases and sales of investments are ini-
tially measured at fair value plus transaction costs and rec-
ognised on the settlement date, which is the date that the 
investment is delivered to or by the Group. The available-
for-sale investments are subsequently carried at fair value. 
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
these investments are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and included in the fair value reserve in sharehold-
ers’ equity in the period in which they arise. Realised gains 
and losses from the disposal of available-for-sale invest-
ments are included in profit and loss in the period in which 
they arise.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss when 
incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss events”) 
that occurred after the initial recognition of available-for-
sale investments. A significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value of an equity security below its cost is an indicator 
that it is impaired. The cumulative impairment loss – meas-
ured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss – is reclassified from 
equity fair value reserve to profit or loss as a reclassifica-
tion adjustment. Impairment losses on equity instruments 
are not reversed. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of 
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a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases 
and the increase can be objectively related to an event oc-
curring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit 
and loss, the impairment loss is reversed through current 
period’s profit and loss.

The Group does not hold any investments held-to-maturity 
or for trading purposes.

Electricity derivatives

Electricity derivatives are initially recognised at fair value 
on the date a contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value. Fair value gains and losses 
on those derivatives are presented as part of other compre-
hensive income to the extent of effective cash-flow hedges 
and as part of profit or loss to the extent of ineffective cash-
flow hedges.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net re-
alisable value. The cost of inventories is determined on 
the weighted average basis, and includes expenditures 
incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to 
their existing location and condition. Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of busi-
ness, less the estimated costs of completion and selling 
expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash in hand and cash deposited on de-
mand at banks. Cash equivalents comprise short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 
cash and have a maturity of three months or less from the 
date of acquisition and are subject to insignificant changes 
in value.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded inclusive of value added 
taxes (VAT) and are initially recorded at the amount receiva-
ble from the debtor. Trade and other receivables are adjust-
ed for an allowance made for impairment of these receiva-
bles. Such an allowance for doubtful debtors is established 
if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able 
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms 

of the receivables. The amount of the allowance is the dif-
ference between the carrying amount and the recoverable 
amount, being the present value of expected future cash 
flows, discounted at the market rate of interest for similar 
borrowers at the date of origination of the receivables.

Prepayments

Prepayments made by the Group are carried at cost less 
provision for impairment. Prepayments to acquire assets 
are transferred to the carrying amount of the asset once 
the Group has obtained control of the asset and it is prob-
able that future economic benefits associated with the as-
set will flow to the Group. Other prepayments are written 
off to profit or loss when the goods or services relating to 
the prepayments are received. If there is an indication that 
the assets, goods or services relating to a prepayment will 
not be received, the carrying value of the prepayment is 
written down accordingly and a corresponding impairment 
loss is recognised in profit and loss. Prepayments received 
by the Group are classified as non-current liabilities when 
the goods or services relating to the prepayment are to be 
delivered after one year. Where such prepayments relate 
to construction contracts revenue is recognised when the 
outcome of the contract can be estimated reliably, by refer-
ence to the stage of completion of the contract activity. 

Value	added	tax	on	purchases	and	sales
 
Value added tax related to sales is payable to tax authorities 
either upon revenue recognition or at the time of collection 
of receivables from customers, depending on local statu-
tory regulations in respective jurisdictions in which Group 
entities operate. Input VAT is reclaimable against sales VAT 
upon payment for purchases. The tax authorities permit the 
settlement of VAT on a net basis. VAT related to sales and 
purchases which have not been settled at the end of the 
reporting period (deferred VAT) is recognised in the state-
ment of financial position on a gross basis and disclosed 
separately as a current asset and liability. Where provision 
has been made for impairment of receivables, the impair-
ment loss is recorded for the gross amount of the debtor’s 
balance, including VAT. The related deferred VAT liability is 
maintained until the debtor is written off for tax purposes. 

Impairment 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective 
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evidence indicates that one or more events have had a 
negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured 
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between 
its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the original effective inter-
est rate. 

Individually significant financial assets are tested for im-
pairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial as-
sets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar 
credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss. 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be re-
lated objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at am-
ortised cost the reversal is recognised in profit and loss. 

Derecognition of financial assets 
The Group derecognises financial assets when (a) the as-
sets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the as-
sets otherwise expired or (b) the Group has transferred the 
rights to the cash flows from the financial assets or entered 
into a qualifying pass-through arrangement while (i) also 
transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of own-
ership of the assets or (ii) neither transferring nor retaining 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership but not re-
taining control. Control is retained if the counterparty does 
not have the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety 
to an unrelated third party without needing to impose ad-
ditional restrictions on the sale.

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial as-
sets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is es-
timated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating 
unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assess-
ments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of 
an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable 
asset group that generates cash flows that are largely in-
dependent from those of other assets and groups. Impair-
ment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised 
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to re-
duce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other 
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss previously recognised in respect of 
goodwill can not be reversed. In respect of other assets, im-
pairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed 
at the end of each reporting period for any indications that 
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, 
if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Employee	benefits
Pension and post-employment benefits. 
In the normal course of business the Group contributes to 
various governmental pension schemes on behalf of its em-
ployees. Mandatory contributions to governmental pension 
schemes are expensed in profit and loss when incurred. 
Costs associated with discretionary pensions and other 
post-employment benefits are included in wages, benefits 
and payroll taxes in profit and loss, however, separate dis-
closures are not provided as these costs are not material.

Short-term benefits. 
Short-term employee benefits obligations are measured on 
an undiscounted basis and are expensed in profit and loss 
as the related service is provided.

A provision in profit and loss is recognised for the amount 
expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-
sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or construc-
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tive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee and the obligation can be esti-
mated reliably.

Borrowings	

Debt is recognised initially at its fair value net of transaction 
costs incurred. Fair value is determined using the prevailing 
market rate of interest for a similar instrument, if significantly 
different from the transaction price. In subsequent periods, 
debt is stated at amortised cost using the effective yield 
method; any difference between the amount at initial rec-
ognition and the redemption amount is recognised in profit 
and loss as an interest adjustment over the period of the 
debt obligation. 

Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that 
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obliga-
tion. Provisions are determined by discounting the expect-
ed future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability.

Shareholder’s	equity
Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from 
equity at the end of the reporting period only if they are 
declared (approved by shareholders) before or on the end 
of the reporting period. Dividends are disclosed when they 
are declared after the end of the reporting period, but be-
fore the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Earnings per share
Earnings per share is determined by dividing the profit 
(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
reporting period. 

Revenue and other operating income

Revenue from the sale of electricity, capacity and heat is 
recognised in profit and loss on the delivery of electricity, 
capacity and heat. Where applicable this revenue is based 
on the rates and related restrictions established by law and 

regulating authorities. The regulatory mechanisms differ 
from country to country.
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised in line 
with the stage of completion of the services. Costs incurred 
in the year in connection with future activity on a contract are 
excluded from contract costs in determining the stage of 
completion. They are presented as part of amounts due to or 
due from customers for contract work. Revenue amounts are 
presented exclusive of value added tax.

Other operating income from the sale of electricity derivatives 
is recognized when a derivative is realized with a profit on 
the amount of profit realized during delivery period or profit 
locked when the opposite derivative is sold/purchased.

Finance income 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invest-
ed, dividend income and foreign currency gains. Interest in-
come is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest 
method. Dividend income is recognised when the dividends 
are declared and inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Finance	expenses

Finance expenses primarily include interest expense on bor-
rowings, unwinding of any discount on provisions and foreign 
currency losses. All borrowing costs are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income using the 
effective interest method.

Income	tax	expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. In-
come tax expense is recognised in profit and loss except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other compre-
hensive income or directly in equity, in which case it is recog-
nised in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable in-
come for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjust-
ment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability 
method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial re-
porting purposes and the amounts used for taxation pur-
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poses. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following 
temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, 
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and that affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the parent is 
able to control the timing of their reversal and it is probable 
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

A deferred tax asset for deductible temporary differences 
and tax losses carry forward is recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which temporary difference can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each report-
ing period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to be applied to the temporary differences when they re-
verse, based on the laws that have been enacted or sub-
stantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

New	and	amended	standards	and	Interpretations

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December  2012 are consistent with those followed in the 
preparation of the Group’s annual financial statements for 
2011, except for the adoption of new amendments of the 
following standards became effective for the Group’s con-
solidated financial statements at 31 December 2012, noted 
below: 

The amendments of the following standards became effec-
tive for the Group’s consolidated financial statements as of 
1 January 2012:

IFRS 7 (Amendment), Disclosures (the amendment is ef-
fective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2011). Transfers of Financial Assets introduces additional 
disclosure requirements for transfers of financial assets in 
situations where assets are not derecognised in their en-
tirety or where the assets are derecognised in their entirety 
but a continuing involvement in the transferred assets is 
retained. The new disclosure requirements are designated 
to enable the users of financial statements to better under-
stand the nature of risks and rewards associated with these 

assets. The Group has no transferred financial assets that 
are not derecognized in their entirety and the associated 
liabilities; therefore, this amendment did not have any mate-
rial effect on the consolidated financial statements.

IAS 12 (Amendment), Income taxes – Deferred Tax: Re-
covery of Underlying Assets (the amendment is effective 
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 and is 
applied retrospectively). The amendment introduces an 
exception to current measurement principles for deferred 
tax assets and liabilities arising from investment property 
measured using the fair value model in accordance with 
IAS 40 Investment Property. The exception also applies to 
investment property acquired in a business combination 
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combi-
nations provided the acquirer subsequently measures the 
assets using the fair value model. In these specified cir-
cumstances the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets should reflect a rebuttable presump-
tion that the carrying amount of the underlying asset will 
be recovered entirely by sale unless the asset is depreci-
ated or the business model is to consume substantially all 
the asset. The Group recognizes the investment property 
using the cost model; therefore, the amendments did not 
have any material effect on the consolidated financial state-
ments.

IFRS 1 (Amendment) Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of 
Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters was issued in Decem-
ber 2010 and applies to annual reporting periods begin-
ning on or after 1 July 2011. The amendment replaces the 
fixed dates in the derecognition exception and the exemp-
tion related to the initial fair value measurement of financial 
instruments, and adds a deemed cost exemption to IFRS 
1 that an entity can apply at the date of transition to IFRSs 
after being subject to severe hyperinflation. The amend-
ments did not have any effect on the consolidated financial 
statements. 

The following IFRSs and amendments to existing IFRSs that 
have been published are not yet effective

The following amendment to IFRS will become effective for 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements from 1 July 
2012:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Amendment) is-
sued in June 2011 and applies to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2012, changes the grouping 
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of items presented in the consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income. According, the change of the 
group are required to subdivide an article submitted as part 
of other comprehensive income, into two categories, based 
on whether the article be transferred to profit and loss in 
the future. Used in IAS 1 the statement of comprehensive 
income name now changed to the profit and loss statement 
and other comprehensive income. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of the amended standard on its con-
solidated financial statements. 

The following IFRSs will become effective for the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements from 1 January 2013:

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (the standard 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Janu-
ary 2013. Earlier application is permitted). IFRS 10 Consoli-
dated Financial Statements provides a single consolidation 
model that identifies control as the basis for consolidation 
for all types of entities. The standard sets out requirements 
for situations when control is difficult to assess, including 
cases involving potential voting rights, agency relation-
ships, control of specified assets and circumstances in 
which voting rights are not the dominant factor in determin-
ing control. In addition IFRS 10 introduces specific applica-
tion guidance for agency relationships. The standard also 
contains accounting requirements and consolidation pro-
cedures, which are carried over unchanged from IAS 27. 
IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation requirements in SIC-12 
Consolidation –Special Purpose Entities and IAS 27 Con-
solidated and Separate Financial Statements. The Group is 
currently assessing the impact of the amended standard on 
its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (the standard is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Ear-
lier application is permitted). IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 
improves the accounting for joint arrangements by intro-
ducing a principle-based approach that requires a party to 
a joint arrangement to recognise its rights and obligations 
arising from the arrangement. The classification of a joint 
arrangement is determined by assessing rights and obliga-
tions of the parties arising from that arrangement. There are 
only two types of arrangements provided in the standard 
– joint operations and joint venture. IFRS 11 also eliminates 
proportionate consolidation as a method to account for 
joint arrangements. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in 
Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-

monetary Contributions by Ventures. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of the amended standard on its con-
solidated financial statements.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (the stand-
ard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013. Earlier application is permitted). IFRS 12 
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities issued in May 2011 
is a new and comprehensive standard on disclosure re-
quirements for all forms of interests in other entities, includ-
ing subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and un-
consolidated structured entities. Adoption of the standard 
will require certain disclosures to be made in the consoli-
dated financial statements of the Group but is expected to 
have impact on its financial position or performance. The 
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amended 
standard on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (the standard is effec-
tive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013. Earlier application is permitted). IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS 
a framework for measuring fair value and requires disclo-
sures about fair value measurements. The standard ap-
plies when other IFRSs require or permit fair value meas-
urements. It does not introduce any new requirements to 
measure an asset or a liability at fair value, change what 
is measured at fair value in IFRSs or address how to pre-
sent changes in fair value. The adoption of the IFRS 13 may 
have effect on the measurement of the Group’s assets and 
liabilities accounted for at fair value. Currently the Group 
evaluates possible effect of the adoption of IFRS 13 on its 
financial position and performance as well as disclosures in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates (Amendment) issued in 
May 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2013, there is a possibility of an early 
use, prescribes the accounting treatment of investments 
in associated companies and includes a requirement for 
application of equity method to investments in associates 
and joint activities. The Group is currently assessing the im-
pact of the amended standard on its consolidated financial 
statements.

Revised IAS 19 Employee Benefits (released in June 2011) 
applies to periods beginning with the 1  January 2013 or 
after making significant changes to the procedure for the 

RAO NORDIC OY



50

RAO NORDIC OY

recognition and measurement of the cost of the pension 
scheme with defined benefit and severance payments, as 
well as significantly changes the requirements for disclosure 
of information about all types of remuneration to employees. 
Changes range from fundamental (for example, the exclu-
sion mechanism corridor and the notion of expected yield of 
assets plan) to simple wording changes and clarifications. 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amend-
ed standard on its consolidated financial statements. 

Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities (Amendments to IFRS 7), issued in December 
2011. Amendments clarify assets and liabilities offsetting 
rules and introduce new related disclosure requirements. 
The new disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The 
Group will adopt revised IFRS 7 from 1 January 2013. The 
Group does not expect the amendments to have a material 
impact on the consolidated financial position and consoli-
dated results of operations, but is currently assessing the 
impact of the amended standard on the disclosures in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In March 2012, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS (IFRS) 
1 First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards. The amendments relate to loans obtained from 
government agencies at below-market interest rate. Com-
panies applying IFRS for the first time are exempt from ret-
rospective application of the requirements for prior periods. 
Changes in the standard are effective for annual periods 
beginning on 1  January 2013. Earlier application is also 
permitted. The Group does not expect the amendments to 
have an impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Sur-
face Mine. This interpretation applies to waste removal 
(stripping) costs incurred in surface mining activity, during 
the production phase of the mine. The interpretation ad-
dresses the accounting for the benefit from the stripping 
activity. The interpretation is effective for annual periods be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2013. The new interpretation 
will not have an impact on the Group.

Improvements to IFRS (issued in 2012). In May 2012, the 
IASB issued its omnibus of amendments to IFRS 1, IAS 1, 
IAS 16, IAS 32, IAS 34 primarily with a view to remove in-
consistencies and clarify wording. There are separate tran-

sitional provisions for each standard. The effective date for 
each of the proposed amendments, if finalised, would be 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, with 
earlier adoption permitted. The Group is considering the 
implications of the standards and the impact on the Group.
The following amendment to IFRS became effective for the 
Group’s financial statements from 1 January 2014:

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
(Amendments to IAS 32), issued in December 2011, added 
criterion that an entity ‘currently has a legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognized amounts’ and criterion that 
an entity ‘intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously’. The Group 
shall apply those amendments for annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2014. The Group does not expect 
the amendments to have a material impact on the consoli-
dated financial position, consolidated results of operations 
or notes to the consolidated financial statements.
The following IFRS became effective for the Group’s con-
solidated financial statements from 1 January 2015:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Part 1: Classification and 
Measurement. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and 
replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification 
and measurement of financial assets. Key features are as 
follows:

Financial assets are required to be classified into two meas-
urement categories: those to be measured subsequently at 
fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at amor-
tised cost. The decision is to be made at initial recognition. 
The classification depends on the entity’s business model 
for managing its financial instruments and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the instrument. 

An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost 
only if it is a debt instrument and both (i) the objective of the 
entity’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the 
contractual cash flows, and (ii) the asset’s contractual cash 
flows represent only payments of principal and interest (that 
is, it has only “basic loan features”). All other debt instru-
ments are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at 
fair value. Equity instruments that are held for trading will be 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other 
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equity investments, an irrevocable election can be made at 
initial recognition to report unrealised and realised fair value 
gains and losses through other comprehensive income rath-
er than profit or loss. There is to be no recycling of fair value 
gains and losses to profit or loss. This election may be made 
on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Dividends are to be 
presented in profit or loss, as long as they represent a return 
on investment. 

The IASB has published an amendment to IFRS 9 that de-
lays the effective date from annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013 to 1 January 2015. This amendment is 
a result of the Board extending its timeline for completing the 
remaining phases of its project to replace IAS 39 beyond 
June 2011. The Group is currently assessing the impact 
of the standard on the consolidated financial statements. 
Adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2015, ear-
lier adoption is permitted.

The Group is considering the implications of the standards 
improvement and the impact on the Group.

There are other improvements, pronouncements and amend-
ments that are not relevant to the current Group’s operations.

The Group plans to adopt new standards and amendments 
when they become effective.

5 Acquisitions and disposals

Acquisition of UAB Veju Spektras

On the 15th of July 2011 the UAB INTER RAO Lietuva ac-
quired the UAB Veju Spektrras. The acquisition was made 
using 100% SPV  UAB INTER RAO Lietuva’s subsidiary IRL 
Wind. The acquired entity had on its balance the operating 
wind park in Lithuania with the installed power capacity of 
30MW and the neighbouring wind park project under de-
velopment. The acquirer had the option to demerge the de-
velopment project, this opting was exercised on the 22nd of 
September 2011. As the result of demerger the new com-
pany UAB Vydmantai Wind Park was registered as 100% 
subsidiary of IRL Wind with the operating wind park on its 
balance. The development project was left on the balance of 
UAB Veju Spektrras that was sold back to its previous share-
holders.
The business reason for the purchase was to enhance the 

trading part with electricity generating assets. The park is 
equipped with the fifteen turbines E70 type produced by 
Enercon, 2MW each. The acquisition was financed by IN-
TER RAO Lietuva and Swedbank. During 2011 the wind 
park had produced 70,2GWh of electricity, the yearly turno-
ver was 6,1 million euros. 

The fair values of the assets and liabilities arising from the 
acquisition are as follows (EUR thousand):

UAB Vydmantai Wind Park 
15 September 2011

Fair values
Intangible assets (licence value) 11,527 
Property, plant and equipment 25,023 
Accounts receivable 1,092 
Cash 2,628 
Deferred income tax (2,296)
Long-term leasing liabilities (16,729)
Short-term part of leasing (619)
Payables (914)
Fair value of net assets acquired 19,712
Goodwill arising from the acquisition 2,646
Total purchase consideration 22,358

The licence enables to sell the electricity produced by the 
wind park with the guaranteed tariff of 300 LTL per MWh 
which is above the current market price. This tariff is guar-
anteed by law and is valid throughout the end of 2020. The 
licence is amortised till the end of 2020.

The goodwill recognition is justified by the DCF model that 
evidences that project cash inflows will cover all the as-
sets acquired including the goodwill during the reasonable 
payback period. It’s also expected the additional synergies 
from the combining of trading and generating units, i.e. the 
UAB INTER RAO Lietuva trading experience and expertise 
will enhance the profitability of generating capacities.

From the date of acquisition and till 31 December 2011 UAB 
Vydmantai Wind Park has contributed revenue and profit in 
the amounts of EUR 2,366 thousand and EUR 765 thousand 
to the Group’s revenue and profit respectively. If the acqui-
sition had occurred as at 1 January 2011, the estimated 
contribution to the Group’s revenues would have been EUR 
6,124 thousand, and the estimated contribution to the profit 
would have been EUR 1,980 thousand. 



52

Acquisition of 24% of LLP Kazenergoresurs
On 30 June 2011 the Group acquired 24% of CJSC TOO 
Kazenergoresurs, an electricity trading company operating 
in Kazakhstan. As a result of the acquisition the total share-
holding was increased from 76% to 100%.

The total consideration paid by the Group was EUR 50 
thousand (USD 70 thousand).
 
Before the acquisition the distribution of dividends was 
made.

The net result of acquisition was posted in equity as follows 
(EUR thousand):

CJSC TOO Kazenergoresurs 
Fair values

Net assets as of 31.12.2010 1,266 
Minority interest 24% 303 
Minority dividend distribution (265) 
Minority residual 38 

Consideration paid (50) 
Net assets acquired 38 
Equity change (12)

During 2011 CJSC TOO Kazenergoresurs has contributed 
revenue and profit in the amounts of EUR 14,611 thousand 
and EUR 842 thousand to the Group’s revenue and profit 
respectively. 

Disposals of the Group entities
On 16 August 2011, the Group disposed 98% of its share-
holding in TOO GK Nedra Kazahstana. The total considera-
tion received was EUR 347.

At the date of disposal the net assets of TOO GK Nedra 
Kazahstana were negative, EUR (297) thousand.

As a result of disposal the profit of EUR 291 thousand was 
presented as other operating income.

RAO NORDIC OY
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Plant and 
equipment

 Other Total

Balance at 1 January 2011 15 1,255 1,270
Additions - 58 58

Disposals - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 5) 25,023 - 25,023

Balance at 31 December 2011 25,038 1,313 26,351

Balance at 1 January 2012 25,038 1,313 26,351
Additions - 1,976 1,976

Disposals - - -

Balance at 31 December 2012 25,038 3,289 28,327

Depreciation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2011 (3) (663) (666)

Depreciation charge (3) (169) (172)

Additions - (25) (25)

Disposals - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 5) (477) - (477)

Balance at 31 December 2011 (483) (857) (1,340)

Balance at 1 January 2012 (483) (857) (1,340)

Depreciation charge (1,095) (165) (1,260)

Additions - -

Disposals - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 5) (477) - (477)

Balance at 31 December 2012 (1,578) (1,022) (2,600)

Net book value

At 1 January 2011 12 592 604

At 31 December 2011 24,555 456 25,011

At 31 December 2012 23,460 2,267 25,727

As at 31 December 2012 as well as at 31 December 2011 the Group had no properties pledged as a security.

As at 31 December 2012 the Group had the wind park assets under finance lease agreement and two corporate cars. 
The NBV of wind mills as at 31 December 2012 was EUR 23,460 thousand. These assets had been acquired in 2011, 
the value at date of acquisition was EUR 25,023 thousand, the accrued depreciation in 2011 from the date of acquisition 
was EUR (477) thousand. In 2012 the accrued depreciation was EUR (1,095) thousand.

6 Property, plant and equipment

RAO NORDIC OY
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7 Investments in associates 

Details of the associate together with the movements in its carrying values is presented below:

RAO NORDIC OY

Status Country 31 December 
2012

31 December 
2011

UAB Alproka Associate Lithuania 49.99% 49.99%

LLC Energospetzobsluzhivanie Associate Transnistria 47.64% 47.64%

 UAB Alproka
Carrying value at 1 January 2011 264
Share of profit of the associate 586

Dividends received (444)

Carrying value at 31 December 2011 406
Share of profit of the associate (26)

Dividends received (111)

Carrying value at 31 December 2012 269

Voting

UAB Alproka is engaged in local real estate business, namely seashore houses development, construction and disposal. 
As at 31 December 2012 it still has some apartments exposed for the sale. As at 31 December 2012 the assets fair value 
of UAB Alproka was EUR 576 thousand, the liabilities amounted was EUR 38 thousand. The sales figure for the year  2012 
was EUR 577 thousand. Net loss for 2012 EUR was 52 thousand.

LLC Energospetzobsluzhivanie provides engineering, maintenance and small repairs service for the MGRES station. As at 
31 December 2012 the assets fair value of LLC Energospetzobsluzhivanie was EUR 136 thousand, the liabilities amounted 
was EUR 55 thousand. The sales for 2012 were EUR 447 thousand, profit for 2012 was EUR 13 thousand. The associate 
is not included in the Group balance sheet.
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As at 31.12.2012 the intangible assets included the fully amortized operating license Vydmantai Wind Park.

Cost Goodwill	 Software	 Operating licence Total 
Balance at 1 January 2011 34,059 339 30 34,428
Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,646 - 11,527 14,173

Impairment loss - - (30) (30)

Balance at 31 December 2011 36,705 339 11,527 48,571

Balance at 1 January 2012 36,705 339 11,527 48,571
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - -

Impairment loss - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2012 36,705 339 11,527 48,571

Amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2011 (6,511) (250) (13) (6,774)
Amortisation charge - (89) (543) (632)

Impairment loss - - 13 (13)

Balance at 31 December 2011 (6,511) (339) (543) (7,393)

Balance at 1 January 2012 (6,511) (339) (543) (7,393)
Amortisation charge - - (1,302) (1,302)

Impairment loss - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2012 (6,511) (339) (1,845) (8,695)

Net book value

At 1 January 2011 27,548 89 17 27,654
At 31 December 2011 30,194 - 10,984 41,178
At 31 December 2012 30,194 - 9,682 39,876

8 Intangible assets

(a)	Amortization	The amortisation charge is included in operating expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehen-
sive income.

(b)	Goodwill	Goodwill as at 31 December 2012 includes the goodwill arisen on the acquisition of UAB INTER RAO Lietuva in 
the amount of EUR 27,548 thousand and was generated as a result of the Group’s ability to benefit from synergies available to 
it because of the Group’s position as an exporter of Russian electricity and the strength of UAB INTER RAO Lietuva in selling 
imported electricity into the Lithuanian electricity market.

On 31 December 2012 the Group carried out an impairment test of the goodwill related to UAB INTER RAO Lietuva. For the 
purpose of impairment testing the goodwill is allocated to UAB INTER RAO Lietuva as an individual cash-generating unit.

The unit recoverable amount is based on value in use. The discount rate is based on WACC developed for Lithuania that 
is 10,56%.
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WACC NPV/Carrying value Sales volume to current NPV/Carrying value

10,56% 286% 90% 249%

15% 234% 80% 212%

17,5% 191% 70% 176%

Based on the assumptions described above, management considers that as at 31 December 2012 there are no indicators 
of goodwill impairment.

The goodwill which arose on acquisition of  Vydmantai Wind Park UAB was EUR 2,646 thousand. As a result of acquisi-
tion the Group received EUR 11,527 thousand of operating licence intangible asset that relates to the ability to receive the 
feed-in tariff on every MWh produced by the wind park. The guaranteed tariff is 300 LTL per MWh which is currently much 
above the market price. The tariff is valid till the end of 2020. The licence is amortised evenly during the period.

The impairment test was based on the assumptions:

-  UAB INTER RAO Lietuva is carrying out trading operations with electricity, including import deliveries from electricity sys-
tem of the Russian Federation to the electricity market of the Lithuanian Republic and export deliveries from the electricity 
market of the Lithuanian Republic to other countries of Baltic region. 

-  Starting from 2010, the electricity market of the Lithuanian Republic experiences significant changes due to the closure of 
the Ignalina Nuclear Power Plant with effect from the end of 2009. The Ignalina plant was the main electricity generating 
facility within Lithuania and the Baltic region, providing up to 70% of electricity generation in that region. The electricity 
deficit arising due to the closure of Ignalina plant will be covered partially by additional production by the Lithuanian 
power stations and partially by additional imports to the Lithuanian electricity system from the neighbour systems, mostly 
from the electricity system of the Russian Federation, which have considerable export potential.

According to model the NPV is EUR 102,659 thousand that is much higher of the carrying value that includes both goodwill 
in the amount of EUR 27,548 thousand and 51% of the net assets as at 31 December 2012 in the amount of EUR 8,327 
thousand. 
The results of sensitivity analysis may be summarized as follows. Two main factors have been changed – WACC and sales 
volume. These two variables have been considered individually.

RAO NORDIC OY
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9	Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities

31 
December 
2012

Recog-
nized 
in other 
compre-
hensive 
income

Recog-
nized in 
profit or 
loss

31 
December 
2011

Acquisi-
tions of 
subsidiar-
ies

Recog-
nized 
in other 
compre-
hensive 
income

Recog-
nized in 
profit or 
loss

1 
January 
2011

Deferred tax assets

Changes in fair value 
of hedging instru-
ments

84 84 - - - (10,913) - 10,913

Other - - (10) 10 - - (8) 18

Total deferred tax 
assets

84 84 - 10 - - - 10,931

Deferred tax 
liabilities

(2,364) 2,618 (66) (4,916) (2,296) (2,701) 83 (2)

Deferred tax ex-
pense recognized in 
profit and loss

(76) 75

Deferred tax ex-
pense recognized 
in other comprehen-
sive income

2,702 (13,614)

Acquisitions of sub-
sidiaries

(2,296)

Net deferred tax 
liabilities

(2,280) (4,906) 10,929

As at 31 December 2012 deferred tax liabilities related to hedge accounting reserve was recognized in the amount EUR 
(83) thousand. As at 31 December 2012 deferred tax assets related to hedge accounting reserve was recognized in the 
amount EUR 84 thousand. EUR (2,281) thousand of deferred tax liabilities were related to Vydmantai Wind Park  operat-
ing licence recognition and temporary PPE differences between carrying value and value for income tax purposes due to 
finance lease accelerated depreciation. 

As at 31 December 2011 deferred tax liabilities related to hedge accounting reserve was recognized in the amount 
EUR (2,701) thousand. The fair value of derivatives designated for hedging of physical electricity sales in the year 2012 
amounted EUR 11,025 thousand. EUR (2,296) thousand of deferred tax liabilities was recognised as a result of Vydmantai 
Wind Park UAB acquisition of which EUR (1,729) thousand related to operating licence recognition and the rest related to 
the temporary PPE differences between carrying value and value for income tax purposes due to finance lease acceler-
ated depreciation. 

The short-term derivatives belong to level 1 fair value hierarchy, i.e. quoted prices in active markets are used for valuation 
purposes.
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10 Other non-current assets

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Financial non-current assets
Available-for-sale investments 28,291 23,704

Long-term derivatives 6,295 -

Non-current loans issued 
(including outstanding interest)

3 7,660

Long-term bank deposits 1,000 1,000

Quoted equity and debt instruments 27 30

Total	financial	non-current	assets 35,616 32,394

Non-financial non-current assets
Prepayments to suppliers - -

Other non-current assets - -

Total	non-financial	non-current	assets - -
35,616 32,394

As at 31 December 2012 available-for-sale investments included EUR 28,291 thousand (2011: 23,704 thousand) in re-
spect of investment in the shares of CJSC Moldavskaya GRES. The amount represents fair value of the Group’s share 
of 19.1% in JSC Moldavskaya GRES. The increase in the investee’s fair value in the amount of EUR 4,587 thousand was 
recognised in the other comprehensive income.

The fair value of JSC Moldavskaya GRES was determined using the valuation model. Principal assumptions of the model 
are disclosed in the Note 3. The model demonstrates positive DCF in the amount of EUR 246,045 thousand. The 19.1% 
shareholding was valued down on liquidity (-20%) and minority (-19,8%) corrections.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2:  other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, 

either directly or indirectly
Level 3:  techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observ-

able market data

RAO NORDIC OY
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As at 31 December 2012, the Group held the following financial assets carried at fair value on the statement of financial 
position:

Assets measured at fair value 31 December 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Available-for-sale investment 28,291 - - 28,291

None-current loan issued 3 - 3 -

Derivatives 6,295 6,295 - -

Other available-for-sale financial 
assets

1,027 1,027 - -

31 December 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Available-for-sale investment 23,704 - - 23,704

None-current loan issued 7,660 - 7,660 -

Derivatives - - - -

Other available-for-sale financial 
assets

1,030 1,030 - -

During the reporting periods ending 31 December 2012 and 2011, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 
fair value measurements.

The available-for-sale investment gain (level 3 financial instrument valuation technique) in the amount of EUR 4,587 thou-
sand was recognized in the other comprehensive income during 2012.

Other non-current liabilities related to long-term derivative financial instruments. At as 31.12.2012 the amount was EUR 
(6,908) thousand. There was no other non-current liabilities as at 31.12.2012

RAO NORDIC OY
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12 Cash and cash equivalents

31 December 2012 31 December 2011 
Cash at bank and in hand in national currencies 10,947 11,408

Cash at bank and in hand in foreign currencies 2,095 3,111

Bank deposits with maturity of  three months or less 6 447

13,048 14,966

RAO NORDIC OY

11 Accounts receivable and prepayments

31 December 2012 31 December 2011 
Financial assets 
Trade receivables 24,796 14,075

Other receivables 328 -

Short-term loans issued  (including outstanding interest) 1 1

Total	financial	assets 25,125 14,076

Non-financial assets
Advances to suppliers and prepayments 458 2,020

Less impairment provision - -

Advances to suppliers and prepayments, net of impairment provision 458 2,020

Short-term VAT recoverable 51 6

Prepaid taxes, other than income tax 6 8

Total	non-financial	assets,	net	of	impairment	provision 515 2,034

Total accounts receivable and prepayments, net of 
impairment provision

25,640 16,110

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010 none of accounts receivable was past due.
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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These following tables provide information about the cash balances of the Group.

Financial inctitution Credit rating Rating agency 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
SEB AB Baa1 stable Moody’s 2,410 9,741

PLC Nordea Bank Finland Aa2 stable Moody’s 8,026 1,882

Handelsbanken AB Aa2 stable Moody’s 1,387 1,219

JSC Kazinvestbank B2 stable Moody’s 491 757

ING Bank NV B+/Stable/B Standard&Poor’s 723 1,258

Other - - 11 109

13,048 14,966

13 Other current assets

Other current assets as at 31 December 2012 include cash deposited in Pohjola Bank (collateral security in favour of Fin-
grid) in the amount of EUR 1,200 thousand (2011: EUR 1,700 thousand), Nordea (collateral securities in favour of NASDAQ 
OMX AB) in the amount of EUR 340 thousand (2011: EUR 505 thousand) and short-term derivative financial instruments in 
the amount EUR 1,621 thousand (2011: EUR 11,231 thousand). The rest amount of EUR 1,171 thousand included EUR 549 
thousand and of EUR 516 thousand of restricted cash of INTER RAO Lietuva and RAO Nordic Oy respectively for trading 
purposes, and EUR 106 thousand related to other companies restricted cash and other immaterial items.

As at 31 December 2011 the rest amount of EUR 476 thousand included EUR 213 thousand of Navita credit request, EUR 
93 thousand of INTER RAO Lietuva and INTER RAO Latvia restricted cash for trading purposes, EUR 86 thousand related 
to RAO Nordic prepayment invoices and EUR 84 thousand to other immaterial items.

Short-term derivatives belong to the 1 level valuation hierarchy, i.e. quoted market prices are used for fair valuation pur-
poses.
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14 Equity

Share capital 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Number of ordinary shares issued and fully paid (in units) 1,305 1,305

Par value EUR 1,000 EUR 1,000

Revaluation and fair value reserve
 Available-for 

sale reserve
Asset revaluation 

reserve
Total

As at 1 January 2011 4,063 -  4,063
Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets 6,433  - 6,433

As at 31 December 2011 10,496  - 10,496
Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets 4,587  - 4,587

As at 31 December 2012 15,083  - 15,083

Available-for sale reserve
As at 31 December 2012 available-for sale reserve relates to revaluation of 19.1% interest in JSC Moldavskaya GRES to 
fair value. The revaluation surplus in the amount of  EUR 4,587 thousand (2010: EUR 6,433 thousand) was recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

Cash flow hedge reserve
As at 31 December 2012 a hedge accounting reserve was recognized in the amount EUR 12 thousand (2011: EUR 8,324 
thousand), net of income tax. The fair value of RAO Nordic Oy derivatives designated for hedging of physical electricity 
sales in the year 2013 amounted EUR 338 thousand. The fair value of IRL Wind derivatives designated for hedging of EU-
RIBOR rate was EUR (563) thousand. Respective deferred tax amounted to EUR (83) thousand for RAO Nordic and EUR 
84 thousand for IRL Wind. 

RAO Nordic derivative related cash flows are expected to occur during January 2013. IRL Wind derivatives related to 2013 
settlement in the amount of EUR (255) thousand, the rest part related to period up to 2020 cash flow hedge. There was no 
ineffectiveness of RAO Nordic cash flow hedge. In IRL Wind the ineffectiveness part of interest rate cash flow hedge in the 
amount of EUR 585 thousand was recognized as financial expenses.

During 2012 EUR 11,025 thousand of gross hedge reserve recognized as at 31 December 2011 was reclassified from the 
equity to the profit of the period. The total net movement of cash flow hedge was EUR (11,249) thousand.

Foreign currency translation reserve
As at 31 December 2012 foreign currency translation reserve was EUR (1,015) thousand (2011: EUR (1,048) thousand). 
During 2012 EUR 33 thousand of profit was recognized in the other comprehensive income.

Dividends
On 29th of June 2011 the Group announced dividends for the year 2011 in the amount of EUR 5,000 thousand. The divi-
dends have been paid in full during the second half of 2012. The dividends per share amounted to EUR 3.83 thousand.
On 30th of June 2011 the Group announced dividends for the year 2010 in the amount of EUR 1,800 thousand. During the 
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year 2011 dividends in the amount of EUR 6,274 thousand had been paid to its sole shareholder JSC INTER RAO UES 
including EUR 4,474 thousand of outstanding dividends for 2010. The dividends per share for 2011 amounted to EUR 1.38 
thousand.

On 30 April 2012 UAB INTER RAO Lietuva, the Group’s 51% subsidiary, announced dividends for the year 2011 in the 
amount of EUR 18,542 thousand out of which EUR 9,086 thousand were paid to non-controlling shareholders. The dividend 
per share amounted to EUR 18.54 thousand.

On 30 April 2011 UAB INTER RAO Lietuva, the Group’s 51% subsidiary, announced dividends for the year 2010 in the 
amount of of EUR 17,607 thousand out of which EUR 8,627 thousand were paid to non-controlling shareholders. The divi-
dend per share amounted to EUR 17.61 thousand.

In 2012 LLP Kazenergoresurs declared EUR 114 thousand of dividends for the year 2011 which were paid to its 100% 
shareholder Asia Energy.

In 2011 LLP Kazenergoresurs declared EUR 1,911 thousand of dividends out of which EUR 265 were paid to minorities.
In 2012 Orange Wings declared EUR 734 thousand of dividends which were paid to its 100% shareholder Asia Energy. 
There were no dividends in Orange Wings for 2010.

15 Earnings per share

Calculation of earnings per share is based upon the Group’s profit for the period and the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year, calculated as shown below. The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary 
shares.

 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Weighted average number of shares for the year ended 31 December 
(shares)

 1,305  1,305

Profit/(loss) attributable to the shareholders of RAO Nordic Oy (605) 9,719

Profit/(loss) per share – basic (EUR) (464) 7,448
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16	Loans	and	borrowings

Non-current	loans	and	borrowings
 Currency Effective interest rate 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
JSC INTER RAO UES (i) USD 12.50% 953 975

JSC INTER RAO UES (ii) USD 15.00% 519 1,143

INTER RAO Credit B.V. (iii) EUR 5% 12,010 -

SWEDBANK AB (iv) EUR 4,77% - 12,489

Swedbank lizingas UAB (v) EUR 4,8% 14,857 16,926

Other 66 103

Total	long-term	borrowings 28,405 31,636

Less: current portion of long-term 
loans and borrowings and long-
term financial lease

2,439 2,458

25,966 29,178

(i)   As at 15 June 2009 the Group entity Asia Energy B.V. obtained a loan with a fixed interest rate of 12.5% and USD 
21,690 thousand principal under the long-term agreement. This loan was early repaid in the year 2010.

(ii)   As at 16 June 2009 the Group entity Asia Energy B.V. obtained a loan with a fixed interest rate of 15% and USD 3,500 
thousand principal under the long-term agreement.

(iii)   In June 2012 RAO Nordic Oy obtained a loan with a fixed interest rate of 5% and EUR 15,000 thousand principal under 
the long-term agreement with INTER RAO Credit B.V. The loan was used to make repayment of the matured loan from 
Bank of Rossiya (Russian Federation).

(iv)   In September 2011 to finance the wind park acquisition the UAB IRL Wind raised the loan in Swedbank in EUR, the 
rate was EURIBOR6m+2,95%. As at 31 December 2012 the loan was transferred to short-term loans.

(v)   In September 2011 Vydmantai Wind Park UAB being the successor of former wind park owner UAB Veju spektras 
received the lease agreement long-term debt with which wind turbines construction was financed eight years ago in 
2005. The interest rate is flat 4,8%. The current repayment year is 2016.

(vi)   The Group has agreements with Swedbank to restructure both loans (iv) and (v) into one gradually amortising loan 
with repayment period till 2020.

The above long-term loans and borrowings are repayable in accordance with the schedule below:

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Due for repayment
Between one and two years 13,482 14,607

Between two and five years - -

 13,482 14,607

RAO NORDIC OY
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The above long-term lease agreements are repayable in accordance with the schedule below:

 31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Due for repayment
Between one and two years 5,379 4,542

Between two and five years 7,105 10,029

 12,484 14,571

Changes in interest rates impact loans and borrowings by changing either their fair value (fixed rate debt) or their future 
cash flows (variable rate debt). Management does not have a formal policy of determining how much of the Group’s ex-
posure should be to fixed or variable rates. However, at the time of raising new loans or borrowings management uses 
its judgment to decide whether it believes that a fixed or variable rate would be more favourable to the Group over the 
expected period until maturity.

Current	loans	and	borrowings
 Effective interest rate 31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Bank Rossiya EUR 7,5% - 15,000

Swedbank lizingas UAB EUR 4,8% 2,439 2,458

SWEDBANK AB EUR 4,77% 12,489 24

Total 14,928 17,482

17 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Financial liabilities
Trade payables 22,477 13,833

Short-term derivative financial instruments 1,967 -

Dividends payable - -

Other payables and accrued expenses - -

Total	financial	liabilities 24,444 13,833

Non-financial liabilities
Advances received 1,497 729

Staff payables 147 86

Other payables 306 400

Total	non-financial	liabilities 1,950 1,215
Total 26,394 15,048

Short-term derivatives belong to the 1 level valuation hierarchy, i.e. quoted market prices are used 
for fair valuation purposes.

RAO NORDIC OY
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18	Taxes	payable
 31 December 2012  31 December 2011

Value added tax 7,778 4,558

Other taxes 124 121

7,902 4,679

19 Revenue and other operating income

Revenue
The year ended 31 

December 2012
The year ended 31 

December 2011
Electricity and capacity 417,744 745,291

Other revenue 139 -

417,883 745,291

Other operating income
For the year ended 31 

December 2012
For the year ended 31 

December 2011
Electricity derivatives 26,532 69,917

Rent income 33 -

Other 63 841

26,628 70,758

RAO NORDIC OY
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20	Operating	expenses

The year ended
31 December 2012

The year ended
31 December 2011

Purchased Power 376,882 695,528

Transmission fees 18,112 27,732

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,260 674

Employee benefit expenses and payroll taxes 5,646 5,176

Expenses from derivatives trading operations on the 
electricity market

13,466 56,515

Other materials for production purposes 28 29

Taxes other than on income 75 132

Impairment of accounts receivable 7,855

Consulting, legal and auditing services 1,997 1,106

Charity donations 1,128 1,178

Insurance expenses 14 26

Business trip and field travel expenses 349 280

Material expenses (office maintenance) 79 72

Representative expenses 295 247

Advertising 146 196

Communication services 526 154

Operating lease expenses 343 333

Bank services 117 83

Amortisation of Intangible assets 1,302 632

Social Expenditure 16 11

Agency fees 47 14

Management and technical fee 624 161

Other operating expenses 1,678 1,801

431,985 792,080

RAO NORDIC OY
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21	Finance	income	and	expenses

Finance income The year ended 
31 December 2012

The year ended 
31 December 2011

Interest income 686 609

Foreign exchange profit 172 247

Other financial income 45 -

903 856

Finance	expenses The year ended 
31 December 2012

The year ended 
31 December 2011

Interest expense 2,275 1,762

Finance charges payable under finance lease - 239

Foreign exchange loss 4 377

Other finance expenses 502 459

2,781 2,837

22	Income	tax	expense

Income tax recognized in profit or loss:

The year ended 
31 December 2012

The year ended 
31 December 2011

Current tax expense (2,888) (3,560)

Deferred tax expense 195 72

Origination of deferred tax expense (271) (9)

(2,964) (3,488)

Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income:

The year ended 
31 December 2012

The year ended 
31 December 2011

Deferred tax on hedge reserve (2,701) (13,614)

(2,701) (13,614)

RAO NORDIC OY
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The Parent Company’s applicable tax rate is the corporate income tax rate of 24,5% (2011: 26%). The income tax rate in 
Lithuania is 15% (2011: 15%) and in Kazakhstan is 20% (2011: 20%). In accordance with tax legislations, tax losses in 
different Group companies in the countries where the Group companies operate may not be offset against taxable profit of 
other Group companies. Accordingly, profit tax may accrue even where there is a net consolidated tax loss.

Profit before tax for financial reporting purposes is reconciled to profit tax expenses as follows:

The year ended 
31 December 2012

The year ended 
31 December 2011

Profit/(loss) before income tax 10,622 22,574

Theoretical profit tax (expense)/benefit at 26% (2010: 26%) (2,602) (5,869)

Effect of different tax rates (1,924) -

Effect of different tax rates 1,562 2,381

(2,964) (3,488)

The effective tax rate was 27,9% for 2012 and 15,5% for 2011.

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of dividends in either 2012 or 2011 by the Group to its 
shareholders.
 

23	Financial	instruments	and	financial	risk	factors

Financial risk factors 
The Group’s activities and activities of particular entities of the Group expose to a variety of financial risks: market risk 
(including foreign currency exchange risk, interest rates risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Since the begin-
ning of 2003 the Parent company has a risk policy in order to hedge its financial exposures, approved by the Management 
Board. This risk policy provides written principles for overall risk management and policies for specific areas, such as 
foreign exchange risk, credit risk, and other particular areas. The Parent company management considers these measures 
as sufficient to control the risks of the Parent company business activities. As the Parent Company is ultimately owned by 
JSC INTER RAO UES, the entities of the Group are at the same time subsidiaries of JSC INTER RAO UES. As such, the risk 
management policy in terms of the Group subsidiaries is governed on the level of JSC INTER RAO UES.

(a) Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will not be able to pay amounts due in full when 
due. Credit risk is managed on the Group basis, as well as at the level of the particular Group entity. Financial assets which 
are potentially subject to credit risk are presented in the table below net of an allowance for impairment provision and con-
sist principally of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate 
credit history. The Group’s current arrangements include assessing the customers’ financial position, past experience and 
other relevant factors. The carrying amount of trade and other receivables, net of the allowance for impairment provision, 
represents the maximum amount exposed to credit risk. Although collection of receivables could be influenced by eco-
nomic and other factors, management believes that there is no significant risk of loss to the Group beyond the impairment 
provision already recorded.

As the Group’s assets are located in different geographical areas (European Union and others) potential credit risk is as-
sociated with the credit risks of those regions. Some of the areas where Group operations take place continue to display 
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certain characteristics of an emerging market. As such, the Group’s credit risk is strongly related to any deterioration of the 
business environment in those areas.

Information on financial assets potentially subject to credit risk in terms of geographical areas is presented below:

31 December 2012
Finland Lithuania Other Total

Other current assets (Note 13) 3,717 549 66 4,332
Trade receivables (Note 11) 7,225 17,552 19 24,796
Other receivables (Note 11) 37 2 289 328
Loans issued non-current (Note 10) - 3 - 3
Loans issued current (Note 11) 188 1 - 189
Cash and cash equivalents 8,026 2,410 2,612 13,048
Total 19,193 20,517 2,986 42,696

31 December 2011
Finland Lithuania Other Total

Other current assets (Note 13) 13,775 73 64 13,912
Trade receivables (Note 11) 950 13,125 - 14,075
Other receivables (Note 11) - - - -
Loans issued non-current (Note 10) 7,656 4 - 7,660
Loans issued current (Note 11) - 1 - 1
Cash and cash equivalents 1,919 9,741 3,306 14,966
Total 24,300 22,944 3,370 50,614

The Group’s general objective for managing credit risk is to ensure continuous revenue collection and stable cash inflow 
as well as efficient financial asset utilization. 

Being mainly linked to trade receivables, the Group’s exposure to credit risk is generally affected by quality of such debtors. 
It is considered, that business activities among the diverse entities within the Group differ. Consequently credit risks are 
specific for the different types of trade receivables (private sector, wholesale trading etc.).

Due to the impracticability of determining independent credit ratings for each of its customers and trade partners, as well 
as taking into account the dissimilarity between different groups of them, the Group assesses credit risks allied with trade 
receivables based upon particular precedent experience and business relationship supported by other factors.

In order to obtain better credit risk monitoring the Group has classified its receivables according to its own assessment of 
their credit risk rate. The Group makes sure that the provision for impairment of accounts receivable reflects the credit risk 
classification in order to consistently grade and treat different groups of receivables in a similar manner.
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As at 31 December 2012 Nominal value Provision for 
impairment of 

accounts 
receivable

Carrying amount Share in total, %

A 24,796 - 24,796 100%

B’ - - - -

B’’ - - - -

B’’’ - - - -

C - - - -

Other small debtors (A class) - - - -

Total 24,796 - 24,796 100%

As at 31 December 2011 Nominal value Provision for 
impairment of 

accounts 
receivable

Carrying amount Share in total, %

A 14,075 - 14,075 100%

B’ - - - -

B’’ - - - -

B’’’ - - - -

C - - - -

Other small debtors (A class) - - - -

Total 14,075 - 14,075 100%

The Group has applied three main Credit risk Classes – A (premium), B (medium), C (low-grade).

Class A – parties with stable financial performance who have rarely allowed delayed settlement or defaulted on their fi-
nancial obligations towards the Group. The credit risk related to those entities and individuals is considered minimal. No 
provision has been applied for such receivables. 

Class B – parties, whose capacity to clear their financial obligations towards the Group is to some extent affected by credit 
risk. This group is sequentially divided into three sub-classes: 

Class B’ – parties with satisfactory solvency, where any delaying of payments has been only short-term and temporary in char-
acter, related agreements are put in place accordingly, credit risk related to those entities and individuals is considered low.

Class B’’ – parties with poor solvency, reasonably frequent delays in payments happen from time to time, there is reason-
able uncertainty regarding their capacity to clear their financial obligations towards the Group. The credit risk related to 
those entities and individuals is considered acceptable. 

Class B’’’ – parties with unsatisfactory solvency, frequent delay in payments happen or\and have systematic grounds (rea-
sons), there is significant uncertainty regarding their capacity to clear their financial obligations towards the Group. The 
credit risk related to those entities and individuals is considered moderate. 
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The main reason behind dividing Class B into the three sub-classes is to develop a tool for more precise monitoring of the 
status of receivables and the outcome of credit risk-management measures employed.

Class C – parties with uncertain capacity to meet their financial obligations towards the Group. The credit risk related to 
those entities and individuals, mainly residential subscribers in Georgia, is considered high. The Group can not switch off 
the debtors or reject potential debtors of this class due to social and political reasons.

Policies and procedures to address credit risk-management include financial claims and court proceedings. Group entities 
also use a wide range of proactive credit risk-management procedures where they are possible considering the rules of 
national energy markets. Such procedures include preliminary credit risk-assessment before setting a contract or a deal.

(b) Market risk 
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group incurs currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than func-
tional currency of each entity within the Group. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily the USD and EUR.
The Group has the following foreign-currency denominated financial assets and liabilities:

At 31 December 2012 EUR USD Other Total
Cash and cash equivalents 1,711 212 172 2,095
Loans and borrowings - (1,472) - (1,472)
Net foreign currency position 1,711 (1,260) 172 623

At 31 December 2011 EUR USD Other Total
Cash and cash equivalents 2,647 464 - 3,111
Loans and borrowings - (2,118) - (2,118)
Net foreign currency position 2,647 (1,654) - 993

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in the USD dollar exchange rates as the 
main foreign currency the Group is exposed to. The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair 
value of monetary assets and liabilities. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not 
material.

Change in 
USD rate

Effect	on	profit	
before	tax

2012 +5% (63)

-5% 63

2011 +5% (83)

-5% 83
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(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. Changes 
in interest rates impact primarily loans and borrowings by changing either their fair value (fixed rate debt) or their future 
cash flows (variable rate debt). At the moment, Group’s management does not have a formal policy of determining how 
much of the Group’s exposure should be to fixed or variable rates. However, at the time of raising new loans or borrowings 
management uses its judgment to decide whether it believes that a fixed or variable rate would be more favourable to the 
Group over the expected period until maturity. The Group’s management does not hedge its interest rate risk.

As at 31 December 2012 the major part of loans had the flat rate.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates of loans and borrowings.

Increase/decrease	
in basis points

Effect	on	profit	
before	tax

2012
EUR +50% (1)

USD +50% (209)

EUR -10% -

USD -10% 20

2011
EUR +50% (5)

USD +50% (235)

EUR -10% 1

USD -10% 24

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risk-
ing damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group seeks to adopt a prudent approach to liquidity risk management which 
implies holding a reasonable level of cash and maintaining the availability of funding through an adequate amount of com-
mitted credit facilities.
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The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining contrac-
tual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are contractual undiscounted cash flows translated at exchange 
rates as at the end of the reporting periods.

Less than 
1 year

Between	1	
and 2 years

Between	2	
and 5 years

Between	5	
and 20 years

Over 20 
years

Total

Loans and borrowings 14,928 18,861 7,105 - - 40,894
Anticipated interest 1,633 749 632 - - 3,014
Trade payables 
(Note 17)

22,477 - - - - 22,477

Total at 31 
December 2012

39,038 19,610 7,737 - - 66,385

Less than 
1 year

Between	1	
and 2 years

Between	2	
and 5 years

Between	5	
and 20 years

Over 20 
years

Total

Loans and borrowings 17,482 7,295 15,634 6,249 - 46,660
Anticipated interest 2,275 1,033 1,381 4,689
Trade payables 
(Note 17)

13,833 - - - - 13,833

Total at 31 
December 2011

31,315 7,295 15,634 6,249 - 60,493

      
(d) Capital  management
The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the ability to continue operations on the going concern basis 
and to provide returns to shareholders as well as to maintain a strong capital base to provide creditor’s and the market with 
confidence in the Group. 

The ultimate shareholder of the Parent Company individually monitors capital of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries on 
the basis of a number of ratios, including gearing ratio, based on quarterly statutory financial statements and management 
accounts of the entities, prepared according to statutory requirements.

The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio under 40%. In addition the Group monitors the following ratios:

Debt/EBITDA not higher then 3;

Debt/Tangible net worth not higher then 1.5;

EBITDA/Interest expenses not less then 4.
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2012 2011
Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings 40,894 46,660

Total equity 61,597 71,952

Gearing ration 39,90% 39,34%

Operating profit 12,526 23,969

Depreciation and amortisation 2,562 1,306

EBITDA 15,088 25,275

Intangible assets 39,876 41,178

Tangible net worth 21,721 30,774

Interest expenses 2,781 2,837

Debt/EBITDA 2.71 1.85

Debt/ Tangible net worth 1.88 1.52

EBITDA/Interest expenses 5.43 8.91

(e) Electricity derivatives
The Group is exposed to financial risk in relation to electricity derivative instruments traded on Nasdaqomx by RAO Nordic 
Oy. The company has a risk policy in place to ensure that gains and losses on those derivatives are within acceptable lim-
its. The company operates “stop loss” positions to limit potential losses to EUR 6 million. If the limits are reached, all open 
risk positions must be closed and the loss or profit will be realised. Other procedures applied within the risk management 
measures are the setting of maximum volume of open positions on electricity derivatives and the use of valuation tech-
niques of trading portfolio such as stress-test, Value-at-Risk, etc.

(f) Fair values
Fair value has been determined either by reference to the market value at the end of the reporting period or by discounting 
the relevant cash flows using market interest rates for similar instruments. As a result of this exercise management believes 
that the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities approximates are their carrying amounts.
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24 Contingencies

The rental payables after the balance sheet are as the follows.

As at 31 December 2012
Office	rentals Other equipment rentals

One year after 109 264

Between two and five years - 414

As at 31 December 2011
Office	rentals Other equipment rentals

One year after 145 254

Between two and five years 86 601

(a) Political environment 
The operations and earnings of Group entities continue, from time to time and in varying degrees, to be affected by politi-
cal, legislative, fiscal and regulatory developments, including those related to environmental protection, in Lithuania and 
Kazakhstan.

(b) Legal proceedings
In the normal course of business the Group may be a party to legal actions. Management of the Group is unaware of any 
actual, pending or threatened claims as at the signing date of these financial statements, which would have a material 
impact on the Group.

(c) Tax contingency
The subsidiaries in the countries where Group operate have various transactions with other related parties, where the pric-
ing is determined in conjunction with other companies within the Shareholder Group. The pricing policy could give rise to 
transfer pricing risks. In management’s opinion, the Group is in substantial compliance with the tax laws of the countries, 
where Group companies operate. However, relevant authorities could take different positions with regard to interpretive 
issues or court practice could develop adversely with respect to the positions taken by the Group and the effect could be 
significant.

The Group includes a number of operating and investment companies located in a number of tax jurisdictions across 
Europe and CIS. Those entities are subject to a complex variety of tax regimes and the nature of current and past trading 
and investment activities exposes them to areas of tax legislation involving considerable judgement and, consequently, 
uncertainty.
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RAO NORDIC OY

25 Related party transactions

(a) Parent company and control relationships 
The parent of RAO Nordic Oy is JSC INTER RAO UES (see Note 1). As at 31 December 2012 the State owned 58.85% of 
voting shares in JSC INTER RAO UES through other state owned companies such as ROSATOM, VNESHEKONOMBANK, 
FSK UES GROUP, RUSHYDRO and Federal Agency for Property Management. 

Transactions	with	management	and	close	family	members	
Key management received the following remuneration during the year, which is included in wages, benefits and payroll 
taxes expenses:

For the year ended 
31 December 2012

For the year ended 
31 December 2011

Salaries and bonuses 1,318 1,352

(b)	Transactions	with	other	related	parties
31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Income
Interest income in relation TGR Energy Electricity Wholesale (the 
Sister company, i.e. 100% subsidiary of JSC INTER RAO UES)

596 482

596 482

Expenses
Purchase power from JSC INTER RAO UES  (parent company) 318,709 693,115

Interest expenses in relation JSC INTER RAO UES (parent company) 129 346

Interest expenses in relation INTER RAO CREDIT B.V. (sister 
company)

318 -

319,156 693,461

Other non-current assets

Loan receivable from TGR Energy Electricity Wholesale Wholesale 
(the Sister company, i.e. 100% subsidiary of JSC INTER RAO UES)

8,042 7,660

Impairment of loan and accrued interests (7,855) -

187 7,660

TGR Energy Electricity Wholesale is the subsidiary of JSC INTER RAO UES that operates in Turkey. The loan was provided till 
February 2014. The rate is EURIBOR3m + 7,85%, the loan is unsecured.

Accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable from JSC INTER RAO UES (parent com-
pany)

- 1,960

- 1,960
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31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Accounts payable
Interest payables to JSC INTER RAO UES 
(parent company)

1,286 1,182

Trade accounts payable to JSC INTER RAO UES 17,782 9,636

Other accounts payable to JSC INTER RAO UES 10 -

19,078 10,818

Loans payable
INTER RAO CREDIT B.V. (sister company) 12,000 -

INTER RAO HOLDINGS B.V. (the Sister company, i.e. 100% subsidi-
ary of JSC INTER RAO UES)

187 937

12,187 937

The loan from INTER RAO CREDIT B.V. was provided to RAO Nordic Oy till June 2014. The rate is fixed 5%, the loan is 
unsecured.

The loan from JSC INTER RAO UES was provided to Asia Energy B.V. till September 2015. The rate is fixed 15%, the loan 
is unsecured.

There is a parent company guarantee provided by JSC INTER RAO UES to Nordea Finland Plc on the amount up to EUR 
95,000 thousand to cover possible risks related to the issuing of the Bank guarantee in favor of NASDAQ OMX AB on the 
same amount. As at 31 December 2012 the used guarantee amount was EUR 25,000 thousand.
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26	Significant	subsidiaries

The principal subsidiaries consolidated in the Group’s financial statements are disclosed in the table below:  

Country of 
incorporation

 31 December 
2012	Ownership/

voting

 31 December 
2011	Ownership/

voting

Distributing and trading entities    
UAB INTER RAO Lietuva (Note 5)  Lithuania  51%  51%

INTER GREEN AB  Sweden  75%  75%

LLP Kazenergoresurs (Note 5)  Kazakhstan  100%  100%

SIA INTER RAO Latvia  Latvia  51%  51%

INTER RAO Eesti  Estonia  51%  51%

IRL POLSKA SP. z.o.o Poland 51% -

Generating entities
UAB Vydmantai Wind Park  Lithuania  51%  51%

Holding entities
IRL WIND  Lithuania  51%  51%

Other entity    
Asia Energy B.V.  Netherlands  100%  100%

OrangeWings Limited  British Virgin Island  100%  100%

27 Events after the reporting period

There have been no events after the 31 December 2012 that may influence or have any material impact on the activities of 
the Group or its financial position.
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RAO NORDIC OY
Profit and loss account

Currency EUR Note
1.1.2012

– 31.12.2012
1.1.2011

– 31.12.2011
NET TURNOVER 3.1 1 57 042 732,02 440 371 264,75

Raw materials and services
Raw materials and consumables

Purchases during the financial year -153 365 084,49 -434 419 968,92

External services -300 0,00

-153 365 384,49 -434 419 968,92
Staff expenses

Wages and salaries 3.2 -2 702 362,19 -2 884 979,32
Social security expenses

Pension expenses -404 864,73 -514 292,68
Other social security expenses -102 160,78 -111 882,37

-3 209 387,70 -3 511 154,37
Depreciation and reduction in value  3.3

Depreciation according to plan -44 490,85 -148 281,14

-44 490,85 -148 281,14

Other operating charges  3.4 -1 930 229,20 -1 651 267,02

OPERATING	PROFIT	(LOSS) -1 506 760,22 640 593,30

Financial income and expenses
Income from group undertakings  3.5 9 456 660,52 8 979 786,60
Other interest and financial income

From group companies  3.5 596 019,97 481 570,87
From others 2 378,40 29 907,87

Reduction in value of investments held as
non-current assets 0,00 -1 383 918,12
current assets -7 854 877,45 0,00
Interest and other financial expenses

For group companies  3.5 -318 032,79 -92 415,56
For others -851 286,32 -1 564 922,45

1 030 862,33 6 450 009,21

PROFIT	(LOSS)	BEFORE	EXTRAORDINARY	ITEMS -475 897,89 7 090 602,51

PROFIT	(LOSS)	BEFORE	APPROPRIATIONS	AND	
TAXES

-475 897,89 7 090 602,51

Income taxes
Taxes during accounting period -1 429,30 -1 315,86

-1 429,30 -1 315,86

PROFIT	(LOSS)	FOR	THE	FINANCIAL	YEAR -477 327,19 7 089 286,65
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RAO NORDIC OY
Assets

Currency  EUR Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Tangible assets 4.1

Machinery and equipment 133 472,54 177 963,39
Other tangible assets 3 800,00 3 800,00

137 272,54 181 763,39
Investments  4.2

Holdings in group undertakings 35 636 480,12 35 636 480,12
Participating interests 18 068 536,07 18 068 536,07

53 705 016,19 53 705 016,19

53 842 288,73 53 886 779,58

CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors

Short-term
Trade debtors 7 545 059,57 5 832 275,73
Loan receivables from group companies 36 832,66 7 174 176,15
Other debtors 3 052 518,10 3 594 367,82
Prepayments and accrued income  4.4 7 260 658,23 7 151 802,35

17 895 068,56 23 752 622,05

Cash in hand and at banks 8 023 477,03 1 916 167,68

25 918 545,59 25 668 789,73

 ASSETS TOTAL 79 760 834,32 79 555 569,31
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LIABILITIES Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

CAPITAL AND RESERVES  5.1
Subscribed capital

Subscribed capital 1 305 000,00 1 305 000,00
1 305 000,00 1 305 000,00

Fair value reserve 255 484,75 8 324 265,40

Legal reserve 396,63 396,63
Retained earnings (loss) 40 355 878,10 38 266 591,45
Profit (loss) for the financial year -477 327,19 7 089 286,65

41 439 432,29 54 985 540,13

CREDITORS
Long-term

Loans from credit institutions 41 439 432,29 102 461,84

Amounts owed to group undertakings  5.2 12 000 000,00 0,00

12 065 820,76 102 461,84
Short-term

Loans from credit institutions 0,00 15 000 000,00
Advances received 958 369,70 383 307,94
Trade creditors 2 949 465,34 2 235 603,33
Amounts owed to group undertakings  5.2 7 941 269,94 2 085 943,86
Deferred tax liabilities 82 905,65 2 701 251,69
Other creditors 5 929 096,95 1 695 870,54

Accruals and deferred income  5.3 8 394 473,69 365 589,98

26 255 581,27 24 467 567,34

38 321 402,03 24 570 029,18

 LIABILITIES TOTAL 79 760 834,32 79 555 569,31

RAO NORDIC OY
Liabilities
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RAO NORDIC OY
Cash flow statement

1.1.2012– 31.12.2012 1.1.2011– 31.12.2011
Profit before tax -476  7 091  

Depreciation 45    148  

Financial items -1 031  -6 450  

-1 462  789  

Increase in receivable -12 675  20 330  

Increase in payable 19 398  -8 955  

5 261  12 164  

Interest paid -1 159  -1 700  

Interest received 209    30  

Dividends received 9 457  4 867  

Income tax paid 375  -863  

Net cash from operating 14 143  14 498  

Machinery investment 0  -111  
Subsidiary investment 0  -938  
Loan provided 0  -7 174  
Net cash from investments 0  -8 223  

Long-term borrowings 12 000    60  

Long-term borrowings repaid -36  -10  

Loan repaid -15 000  -20 000  

Dividends paid -5 000  -6 274  

Net	cash	from	financial -8 036  -26 224  

Net increase in cash 6 107  -19 949  

Balance 31.12.2011 1 916  21 865  
Balance 31.12.2012 8 023  1 916  
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RAO NORDIC OY
Notes to the financial  
statements of 31.12.2012

Notes to the preparation of the financial statements:  
Valuation- and perodization principles and -methods:

The non-current assets have been stated at cost and inventories are stated  at the lower of cost and realisable value by follow-
ing the fifo principle and the lowest value principle of the 5 paragraph 6 § 1 moment.      
 
The acquisition cost of the non-current property will be depreciated according to plan. The depreciation plan is determined by 
experience.  The remainder of the acquisition cost and residual value will depreciated during the estimated useful life.  
           
Commodity risk hedging
Commodity risk hedging has been applied during the financial year 2010. The company has partly applied hedge accounting 
in accordance with IAS 39 as so-called cash flow hedge.        
      
More information on the electricity price hedging risk and on the risk of derivatives has been given in the Group preparation 
principles of the Group Statements and in the notes 23 “Financial Instruments and financial risk factors”.    
       
Derivatives       
RAO Nordic trades derivatives both for customers and for the hedging of selling prices of physical import from Russia. In 2011 
the financial product sales were above 30 TWh. The major volume had been traded through NASDAQOMX Commodities, the 
less part via OTC market. The Financial instruments are statet at the fair value.      
       
Deferred	tax	 	 	 	 	 	 	
The deferred tax amount is recognised on the fair value of gross hedge reserve acknowledged to be effective at the end of 
each reporting period. The tax rate is Finnish corporate income tax rate 24,5%.      
 

Notes	to	the	company	which	is	member	of	the	Group:
Parent	company:
JSC “INTER RAO UES” Bolshaya Pirogovskaya str., 27/3, 119435
Moscow, Russia is the Mother Company of RAO Nordic Oy
The copy of the Group Financial Statement of the Parent Company is available at the above mentioned address. 

Notes	to	the	income	statement:

Revenues	by	segment	of	business:	  31.12.2012  31.12.2011
Electricity trading 131 314 295,28 370 454 687,15

Profit from financial trading 25 728 436,74 69 916 577,60

157 042 732,02 440 371 264,75
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Revenues by geographical market 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Finland 99 407 363,81 57 985 232,34

Nord Pool (Norway) 57 545 227,21 382 386 032,41

Sweden 90 141,00 -

440 371 264,75 440 371 264,75

Notes	to	the	personnel:
Number	of	employees:

 
31.12.2012

 
31.12.2011

Number of persons the company has employed 

during the financial year on the average. 17 17

Staff	costs:  31.12.2012  31.12.2011
Wages and salaries 2 702 362,19 2 884 979,32

Pension costs 404 864,73 514 292,68

Other social security costs 102 160,78 111 882,37

Total 3 209 387,70 3 511 154,37

 31.12.2012  31.12.2011

Other operating charges  31.12.2012  31.12.2011
Optional social security expenses 165 612,82 132 921,00

Expenses of premises 178 859,32 195 692,00

Expenses of machinery and equipment 486 700,60 256 857,00

Travel expenses 125 357,65 114 024,00

Entertainment cost 213 772,34 117 472,00

Marketing expenses 91 988,99 109 134,00

Administration expenses 646 724,12 585 167,00

Other business expenses 21 213,36 140 000,00

1 930 229,20 1 651 267,00

Total	income	and	costs	from	the	investments	in	the	group	and	affiliated	companies:
Financial income 9 456 660,52 8 979 786,60

Interest income 596 019,97 481 570,87

Impairment -7 854 877,45 -

Interest expenses -318 032,79 -136 749,48

1 879 770,25 9 324 607,99

      

RAO NORDIC OY
Notes to the financial  

statements of 31.12.2012

The	basis	of	the	depreciation	according	to	plan	and	changes:	
 Useful Depreciation Depreciation
Item life years percetagemethod method
Machinery and equip.  25 % residual value depr.
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Intangible and tangible assets Tangible assets
Machinery and

equipment

Other intangible
assets

Acquisition cost 1.1.2012 540 454,68

Additions 0,00

Disposals 0,00

Acquisition cost 31.12.2012 540 454,68

Acc depr at the beginning of the fiscal year 362 491,29

Depreciations of the fiscal year 44 490,85

Depreciations of the disposed items 0,00

Acc	depr	at	the	end	of	the	fiscal	year	 406 982,14

Cost at the end of the fiscal year 540 454,68

Acc depr at the end of the fiscal year -406 982,14

Book value 31.12.2012 133 472,54
Book value 31.12.2011 177 963,39

 31.12.2012  31.12.2011
Piece of art 3 800,00 3 800,00

Expensed small acquisitions 20 186,24 51 630,85

The	depreciations	of	the	non-current	assets	ja	other	tangible	assets:
 31.12.2012  31.12.2011

Machinery and equipment 44 490,85 59 321,14

Other intangible assets 0,00 88 960,00

Depreciations total 44 490,85 148 281,14

The	total	residual	value	of	the	machinery	and	equipment:
 31.12.2012  31.12.2011

Machinery and equipment in balance sheet in total, of which 
the residual value is:

133 472,54
133 472,54

177 963,39
177 963,39

RAO NORDIC OY
Notes to the financial  
statements of 31.12.2012
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Investments Group
companies

Associates

Acquisition cost 1.1.2012 35 636 480,12 18 068 536,07

Additions 0,00 0,00

Acquisition cost 31.12.2012 35 636 480,12 18 068 536,07

Reduction in value 0,00 0,00

Book value 31.12.2012 35 636 480,12 18 068 536,07

Accrued interest receivables 503 768,38 16 897,80

Hedging profit valuation 6 348 943,92

Prepayments 42 000,00

Other receivables 257 090,05

7 151 802,35 16 897,80

Notes	to	the	hedged	financial	instruments	   31.12.2012   31.12.2011
Derivatives
Electricity derivatives 0,00 7 174 176,15

Accured income 187 527,00 481 570,87

187 527,00 7 655 747,02

The material items in accrued short-term 
receivables:

  31.12.2012   31.12.2011

Accrued interest receivables 187 527,00 503 768,38

Hedging assets 6 792 086,07 6 348 943,92

Prepayments 46 500,00 42 000,00

Other receivables 234 545,16 257 090,05
7 260 658,23 7 151 802,35

Notes	to	the	financial	instruments	recognised	at	fair	value
Derivatives
Electricity derivatives 2012

Fair value Adjusments Adjustments in

 31.12 in Income fair value reserve

Statement

Electricity derivatives (1000e) 729    - 338

2011

Fair Adjusments Adjustments in

value in Income fair value reserve

31.12. Statement

Electricity derivatives (1000e) 11 231  - 11 025

RAO NORDIC OY
Notes to the financial  

statements of 31.12.2012
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Notes	to	the	liabilities:
Equity:
Subscribed capital  31.12.2012  31.12.2011
Share capital 1.1 1 305 000,00 1 305 000,00
Share capital 31.12 1 305 000,00 1 305 000,00

Fair value reserve 1.1 8 324 265,40 -31 059 202,10
Additions 39 383 467,50
Decrease -8 068 780,65
Fair value reserve 31.12 255 484,75 8 324 265,40

Legal reserve 1.1 396,63 396,63
Legal reserve 31.12 396,63 396,63
Subscibed	capital	at	the	end	of	the	fiscal	year 1 560 881,38 9 629 662,03

Retained earnings 1.1 45 355 878,10 40 066 591,45
Profit distribution -5 000 000,00 -1 800 000,00
Retained earnings 31.12 40 355 878,10 38 266 591,45
Profit/loss for the fiscal year -477 327,19 7 089 286,65
Retained	earnings	at	the	end	of	the	fiscal	year 39 878 550,91 45 355 878,10

Total equity 41 439 432,29 54 985 540,13

Distributable	profit  31.12.2012  31.12.2011
Retained earnings 40 355 878,10 38 266 591,45
Profit for the fiscal year -477 327,19 7 089 286,65
Transferred to the fair value reserve 0,00 0,00
Total 39 878 550,91 45 355 878,10

Deferred	taxes
Deferred taxes 1.1 -2 701 251,69 10 912 692,63
Addition 0,00 0,00
Decrease 2 618 346,04 -13 613 944,32
Deferred taxes 31.12 -82 905,65 -2 701 251,69

Amounts	owed	to	group	undertakings  31.12.2012  31.12.2011
Purchase payables 7 931 433,87 2 085 943,86
Accruals 9 836,07 0,00
Loans 12 000 000,00 0,00

19 941 269,94 2 085 943,86

RAO NORDIC OY
Notes to the financial  
statements of 31.12.2012
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The material items in accrued payables  31.12.2012  31.12.2011
Hedging liabilities 8142902,16 0,00

Salary accruals including social costs 251 571,53 365 589,98

Total 8 394 473,69 365 589,98

31.12.2012 31.12.2011
VAT liability 5 833 155,73 1 592 808,25

Income tax receivables 993 335,29 1 369 618,44

Liabilities 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Rent of premises Rent of premises

To be paid during the next fiscal year 128 000,00 128 000,00

To be paid within 2-5 years 0,00 86 000,00

Total 128 000,00 214 000,00

Rent of machinery
and it-programs

Rent of machinery
and it-programs

To be paid during the next fiscal year 244 000,00 217 000,00

To be paid within 2-5 years 415 000,00 601 000,00

659 000,00 818 000,00

Total 787 000,00 1 032 000,00

Salaries and other compensation of managing 
director	and	members	of	the	board:

 31.12.2012  31.12.2011

The Members of the Board and the Managing Director do 
not have a separate pension plan. They will retire according 
to the pension law of Finland.

744 741,83 1 038 245,00

Auditors’	fee  31.12.2012  31.12.2011
Fee for the annual audit 66 347,00 31 085,00

List	of	book-keeping	files	and	storage	method:
Daily book ADP-reports

General ledger ADP-reports

Accounts receivable ADP- sub accounting

Accounts payable ADP- sub accounting

Payroll accounting ADP- sub accounting

Financial statements Binded book

Specifications to Financial Statements Binded book

RAO NORDIC OY
Notes to the financial  

statements of 31.12.2012
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Receipt code storage

Bank receipts Nordea 11 paper receipts in folders

Sales receipts 30 paper receipts in folders

Purchase receipts 55 paper receipts in folders

Automatic VAT-postings 99 paper receipts in folders

Memorandums 90 paper receipts in folders

Financial statements must be stored not less than 10 years from the balance sheet date (PAR 2:10).    
The receipts of the fiscal year must be stored not less than 6 years from the end of the closing year.    
   
Significant	subsidiaries
The principal subsidiaries consolidated in the Group’s financial statements are disclosed in the table below:

 Country
of incorporation 

 31 December 2012
Ownership/voting

 31 December 2011
Ownership/voting

Distributing and trading entities    
UAB INTER RAO Lietuva (Note 5)  Lithuania  51%  51%

LLP Kazenergoresurs (Note 5)  Kazakhstan  100%  100%

SIA INTER RAO Latvia  Latvia  51%  51%

INTER RAO Eesti  Estonia  51%  51%

IRL Wind Lithuania Lithuania 100% 100%

UAB Vydmantai Wind Park                     Lithuania  100%  100%

Inter Green Ab                        Sweden 75% 75%

IRL Polska Sp. z.o.o. Poland  51% -

Other entity  
Asia Energy B.V.  Netherlands  100%  100%

OrangeWings Limited  British Virgin Island  100%  100%

Investments in associates 
Details of the associates and jointly controlled entities, together with the movements in the carrying values of these entities, 
are set at below:

Status Country 31 December 
2012

31 December 
2011

UAB Alproka Associate Lithuania 49.99% 49.99%

Energospetsobsluzhivanie Associate Moldova, Transnistria 47,64% 47,64%

CJSC Moldavskaya GRES Available-for-sale 
investment

Moldova, Transnistria 19,10% 19,10%

Voting

RAO NORDIC OY
Notes to the financial  
statements of 31.12.2012
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RAO NORDIC OY
Signatures to the financial  
statements of 31.12.2012

SIGNATURES      
      
      
Helsinki,       
           
     
Karina Tsurkan      Oleg Zakataev  
       
      
Ilnar Mirsiyapov      Dmitry N. Palunin  
 
          
Anton Badenkov      
      
 

     
THE	AUDITOR’S	NOTE	 	 	 	 	 	
      
       
Our auditor’s report has been issued today.      
      
      
Helsinki,            
      
Ernst & Young Oy      
Authorized Public Accountants      
      
     
Mikko Rytilahti      
Authorized Public Accountant      
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RAO NORDIC OY
Auditor’s report

To the Annual General Meeting of Nordic Oy

We have audited the accounting records, the financial 
statements, the report of the Board of Directors, and the 
administration of RAO Nordic Oy for the year ended 31 
December, 2012. The financial statements comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 
and statement of cash flows, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, as well as the parent company’s bal-
ance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and 
notes to the financial statements.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU, as well as for the preparation of finan-
cial statements and the report of the Board of Directors that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with the laws and 
regulations governing the preparation of the financial state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate 
arrangement of the control of the company’s accounts and 
finances, and the Managing Director shall see to it that the 
accounts of the company are in compliance with the law 
and that its financial affairs have been arranged in a reli-
able manner.

Auditor’s	Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
statements, on the consolidated financial statements and 

on the report of the Board of Directors based on our audit. 
The Auditing Act requires that we comply with the require-
ments of professional ethics. We conducted our audit in ac-
cordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Good au-
diting practice requires that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements and the report of the Board of Directors are free 
from material misstatement, and whether the members of 
the Board of Directors of the parent company and the Man-
aging Director are guilty of an act or negligence which may 
result in liability in damages towards the company or have 
violated the Limited Liability Companies Act or the articles of 
association of the company.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the finan-
cial statements and the report of the Board of Directors. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, in-
cluding the assessment of the risks of material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assess-
ments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of financial statements and report of the 
Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting esti-
mates made by management, as well as evaluating the over-
all presentation of the financial statements and the report of 
the Board of Directors.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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RAO NORDIC OY
Auditor’s report

Opinion	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the financial position, financial per-
formance, and cash flows of the group in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU.

Opinion	on	the	company’s	financial	statements	and	the	
report of the Board of Directors
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the 
Board of Directors give a true and fair view of both the con-
solidated and the parent company’s financial performance 
and financial position in accordance with the laws and 
regulations governing the preparation of the financial state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. 
The information in the report of the Board of Directors is 
consistent with the information in the financial statements.

Helsinki, 

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Mikko Rytilahti
Authorized Public Accountant


